

Europeanisation in new member and candidate states

Ulrich Sedelmeier

Department of International Relations, London School of Economics & Political Science, Houghton Street, London WC2A 2AE, UK email: u.sedelmeier@lse.ac.uk http://www.lse.ac.uk/people/u.sedelmeier@lse.ac.uk/

> Accepted on 20 December 2010 Published on 12 February 2011

Abstract

The Europeanisation of candidate countries and new members is a rather recent research area that has grown strongly since the early 2000s. Research in this area has developed primarily in the context of the EU's eastern enlargement. A small number of theoretically informed book-length studies of the EU's influence on the Central and Eastern European candidate countries have provided a generalisable conceptual framework for this research area, drawing on the debate between rationalist institutionalist and constructivist institutionalist approaches in International Relations and Comparative Politics. This framework makes these studies highly compatible with analyses of the Europeanisation of member states, with which they also share one key empirical finding, namely that the impact of the EU on candidate countries is differential across countries and issue areas. At the same time, the theoretical implications of these findings appear more clear-cut than in the case of the Europeanisation of member states: rationalist institutionalism, with its focus on the external incentives underpinning EU conditionality and the material costs incurred by domestic veto players, appears well-suited to explaining variation in the patterns of Europeanisation in candidate countries. A very recent development within this research agenda is the focus on the Europeanisation of new member states. While the study of the EU's impact during the early years of membership was hitherto primarily a subfield of analyses of the Europeanisation of member states, it has now become an extension of studies of candidate countries by analysing the impact of accession on the dynamics of pre-accession Europeanisation and how durable and distinctive the patterns of candidate Europeanisation are in the post-accession stage.

Keywords: acquis communautaire, Central and Eastern Europe, Copenhagen criteria, democratisation, enlargement, Europeanisation, implementation, political opportunity structure, post-Communism

This review is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial-NoDerivs 3.0 Austria License. http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/at/



Imprint / Terms of Use

Living Reviews in European Governance is a peer reviewed open access journal published by the European Community Studies Association Austria, at the Institute for European Integration Research, Austrian Academy of Sciences, Strohgasse 45/DG, 1030 Vienna, Austria. ISSN 1813-856X.

This review is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial-NoDerivs 3.0 Austria License: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/at/

Because a *Living Reviews* article can evolve over time, we recommend to cite the article as follows:

Ulrich Sedelmeier, "Europeanisation in new member and candidate states", *Living Reviews in European Governance*, Vol. 6, (2011), No. 1: http://www.livingreviews.org/lreg-2011-1 (cited [<date>]).

The date given as <date> then uniquely identifies the version of the article you are referring to.

Article Revisions

Living Reviews in European Governance supports two methods of keeping its articles up-to-date:

- Minor Revisions consist of minor editorial changes and allow the author the opportunity to update the article according to current research findings, new publications or significant developments. These include, for example, the addition of fresh references or URLs. The revised article is reviewed by the Section Editor and an overview of changes will be listed through a 'change log' at the beginning of the article.
- **Major Updates** involve extensive changes that require a substantial revision of the article's content, or the addition of new ideas that were not in the original text. Major updates are subject to full external reviewing and are published with a new publication number. Access to the original text is available only through the updated version of the article.

For detailed documentation of an article's evolution, please refer to the history document of the article's online version at http://www.livingreviews.org/lreg-2011-1.

12 February 2011: This Living Review has been extensively rewritten and restructured to take account of a number of significant developments in the literature, particularly with regard to the post-accession experience of the new member states that joined the EU in 2004 and 2007. All sections have been comprehensively updated and partly restructured and significantly expanded. Sections 5 and 6.3 are entirely new. The number of references has increased from 175 to 298.

Contents

1	Introduction	5
2	Research questions2.1 Extent and nature of the EU's impact2.2 Conditions for the EU's impact: mediating factors	
3	Theoretical framework: institutionalist approaches to the EU's impact 3.1 Rationalist institutionalism	11 . 12
	3.1.1 EU strategy: credible incentives	
	state capacity	. 15
	3.2.1EU strategy: socialisation and persuasion3.2.2Domestic politics: normative resonance	
4	Empirical findings I: EU impact on candidate countries	17
	4.1 Impact on the polity	
	4.1.1Liberal democratic principles	
	4.1.2 Invational core executives and junctaries	
	4.2.1 Political parties, party system, and interest groups	
	4.2.2 Adverse effects on political competition, accountability, and grass-roots pol	
	4.3 Policy Impact	. 22
5	Empirical findings II: Europeanisation of new member states after accession	
	 5.1 Post-accession compliance with EU law	
0		
6	Europeanisation of candidate countries: conclusions and gaps 6.1 Comparisons across enlargement rounds	29 . 30
	6.2 Conceptualising the impact of domestic politics	
	6.3 Europeanisation without a credible EU membership perspective	
7	Acknowledgements	31
R	eferences	32

List of Tables

1	Article search by 'Topic', Social Sciences Citation Index (SSCI), 1956-present (De-	
	cember 2010)	7
2	Conceptual framework: main independent variables	13

1 Introduction

The Europeanisation of candidate countries has emerged only recently as a separate research area. The study of Europeanisation has long been confined to analyses of the member states of the European Union (EU). However, what the literature usually considers as 'Europeanisation' is not confined to the member states. While there is considerable debate about how to define 'Europeanisation' (see e.g. Börzel 2005; Börzel and Risse 2003, 2007; Cowles *et al.* 2001; Falkner 2003; Featherstone and Radaelli 2003; Ladrech 2010; Mair 2004; Radaelli 2003), the literature generally uses the term as shorthand for 'influence of the EU' or 'domestic impact of the EU'. Of course, this conflation of 'Europe' with the EU is problematic, but this review retains the customary use of the term. The dominant focus of the literature on national responses to top-down adjustment pressures emanating from the EU also limits the scope of analysis – and hence of this review – significantly (as I will discuss below). Yet these restrictions notwithstanding, the domestic impact of the EU is certainly not confined to the EU's members. The narrow focus of the EU's history its impact extended beyond its borders and outsiders have undertaken various forms of unilateral adjustment.

Two principal reasons account for the long neglect of such adjustments by the Europeanisation literature. One reason is fairly straightforward: the research agenda on Europeanisation is relatively recent. Only after the mid-1990s did the term Europeanisation come to denote a distinctive research area in EU studies. Earlier analyses of the adjustment of outsiders, candidates and new members therefore did not use the term Europeanisation as a label to denote a common research area, or to provide a focal point for a coherent framework of analysis.

A more substantive reason is that while the adjustment of outsiders has been a longstanding phenomenon of European integration, these adjustments were generally a response to various negative externalities of European integration. Adjustments to the EU in non-member states were thus highly selective and did not result from deliberate attempts by the EU to induce an alignment with its rules. Analysts therefore did not consider such adjustments comparable to the EU's impact on member states – and hence as cases of Europeanisation.

A qualitative change in the EU's impact on outsiders occurred in the 1990s with regard to two groups of countries whose adjustment was much more comprehensive and much more directly influenced by the EU. The first group of countries were the members of the European Free Trade Association (EFTA). In 1992, most EFTA members entered into the European Economic Area (EEA) agreement with the EU, which provided for their unilateral adoption of the EU's rules and regulations – the *acquis communautaire* (except for agriculture). This adjustment allowed the EFTA countries to participate in the EU's internal market and most of their governments regarded the EEA as a first step towards full membership.

The second group of countries that has become subject to direct and explicit attempts by the EU to exercise comprehensive influence on domestic developments are the post-communist Central and Eastern European countries (CEECs) that declared their intention to join the EU after the regime changes of 1989. In the history of EU enlargement, a key novelty in the eastern enlargements is that these candidates were at various stages of a transition towards market economies and liberal democracies, and not yet ready to enforce the *acquis communautaire* (although doubts about the latter had also been raised in the case of Greece). The EU therefore became engaged to an unprecedented extent in a regular monitoring and assessment of the adjustment efforts of the candidate countries. Moreover, the EU's adjustment requirements did not only focus on the adoption of the *acquis communautaire* – its standard demand for new members. In addition, the EU used the attractiveness of its membership incentive for the post-communist countries in order to pursue broader political goals through its enlargement policy. Its membership conditions also focused on a broad range of political and economic criteria, covering many rules for which

EU institutions have no legal competences vis-à-vis full member states (such as democracy and minority rights).

The study of the EU's conditionality in the context of eastern enlargement has started to frame the analysis in terms of 'Europeanisation' of candidate countries (see e.g. Bauer *et al.* 2007; Hughes *et al.* 2004; Grabbe 2001, 2006; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005b). These studies thus started to broaden the focus of Europeanisation and to establish the Europeanisation of applicant states as a separate sub-field of this broader research agenda.

Two key characteristics of the adjustment of the EFTA countries and the CEECs are similar to the impact of the EU on member states, and hence suggest that it indeed makes sense to study the impact of the EU on candidate countries in terms of 'Europeanisation': the significant extent to which EU institutions direct and enforce the adjustment process (even if the instruments differ), and the comprehensive nature of adjustment that covers the entirety of the *acquis*. Yet at the same time, the Europeanisation of candidate countries has distinctive characteristics that make it a particular sub-field of Europeanisation research. First, the status of candidates as non-members has implications for the instruments used by EU institutions to influence the adjustment process. EU institutions cannot rely on treaty-based sanctions, but must use softer instruments including conditional positive incentives, normative pressure, and persuasion. Concurrently, monitoring compliance is much more intrusive and direct than in full member states. Second, as non-members states, the candidates had no voice in the making of the rules that they must adopt, and the power asymmetry vis-à-vis the incumbents has led to a top-down process of rule transfer, with no scope for 'uploading' their own preferences to the EU level.

Moreover, the distinctive characteristics of candidate Europeanisation were more prominent in the case of the eastern enlargement than in the 1995 enlargement. The adjustment pressures for candidates differed with regard to the EEA and the eastern enlargement process. Although the EEA entailed a unilateral adjustment by the EFTA countries, the adjustment pressures were moderate. The EFTA countries had longstanding free trade agreements with the EU, much experience with regulatory regimes, and many of their governments considered the adoption of the *acquis* of intrinsic value to change national regulatory practices (Smith 1999). By contrast, the adaptational pressures for the CEECs were far higher: the legacy of post-communism created high adjustment costs, and the main rationale for adopting the *acquis* was the benefits of full EU membership rather than the intrinsic benefits of EU models in the various policy areas. Moreover, only in the context of the CEECs did the EU spell out, and regularly monitor, an explicit pre-accession conditionality that subsequently became a regular feature of EU enlargement policy for all candidates, including Malta, Cyprus, Turkey, and the countries of southeastern Europe.

Similar to the recent nature of the focus on candidate country Europeanisation, the Europeanisation of new members as a distinctive sub-field of Europeanisation studies is very new (see also Pridham 2006: 3–4). It might seem odd to include new members in the study of the Europeanisation of candidates rather than in the general literature on the Europeanisation of full members. After accession, the instruments that EU institutions can use to induce adjustments and the issue areas in which they can exert such adjustment pressures clearly differ from candidate countries. Yet what makes the Europeanisation of new members more similar to candidates, rather than longer-standing members, is that the adjustment pressures of membership are different for states that did not participate in the making of the rules. Moreover, the distinctive nature of candidate country Europeanisation – the EU's attempt to influence domestic adjustment prior to accession - raises the question of how durable the adjustment patterns and the EU's pre-accession influence are. More broadly, the question is not only how effective Europeanisation through conditionality is, but also whether post-conditionality Europeanisation remains – also in the longer run – qualitatively different from other member states that have not experienced pre-accession conditionality. In this sense the study of the Europeanisation of new members can be seen as a temporal extension of the analysis of candidate Europeanisation.

Thus, while some research explicitly studying the impact of membership on newcomers started to emerge in the context of the EFTA enlargement (see e.g. Falkner 2000, 2001), it is more similar to member states Europeanisation studies. In the aftermath of the 2004/2007 eastern enlargement, a few studies of new members have emerged that analyse how the distinctiveness of candidate country Europeanisation relates to Europeanisation dynamics in the post-accession period. Given the short time span since these enlargement rounds, such studies are still rare, but they point towards the emergence of a promising new research agenda. This research agenda serves not only as a test of the effectiveness of the mechanisms that the EU used to 'Europeanise' these countries prior to accession, but also provides an opportunity to reassess some of the conceptual insights of the study of candidate country Europeanisation (Epstein and Sedelmeier 2008).

Table 1: Article search by 'Topic', Social Sciences Citation Index (SSCI), 1956-present (December 2010) (since individual articles may be counted in multiple rows, the final row is not the sum of the above rows)

Keywords	-1999	2000-02	2003 - 05	2006-08	2009&10	total
Europeani [*] ation AND candidate [*]	0	4	3	5	13	25
Europeani [*] ation AND enlargement	0	5	14	17	20	56
Europeani [*] ation AND new member [*]	5	6	8	19	21	59
Europeani [*] ation AND accession	2	4	14	15	34	69
Europeani [*] ation AND East [*] Europe [*]	5	10	17	33	30	95
Europeani*ation AND Central Europe*	6	10	23	41	36	116
All of the above combinations ('or'; excluding multiple hits)	11	23	43	72	87	236

Table 1 summarises the results of a keyword search of the Social Science Citation Index. It confirms the Europeanisation of applicant states as a fast-growing research area, particularly since 2003. This result is not so much reflected in direct hits for a search for 'candidates', but rather for Europeanisation in the context of 'enlargement' or 'accession'. The search also shows that much of this growth is matched by the increase of studies of the Europeanisation of Central and/or East European countries, which reflects the close link between the study of the Europeanisation of candidate countries and the EU's eastern enlargement rounds. Studies of the Europeanisation of new members are still a smaller sub-field, but show strong growth.

In recent years, the Europeanisation of candidate countries has become a more mature research area, as studies have moved increasingly beyond largely descriptive analyses of single cases (countries and issue areas). By 2005, a few comparative book-length studies had explicitly and systematically applied a conceptual framework to the analysis of the EU's influence on the Central and Eastern European candidate countries (see in particular Jacoby 2004; Kelley 2004b; Kubicek 2003a; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005b; Schimmelfennig et al. 2006). These studies have made a considerable contribution to the development of a common research agenda for the Europeanisation of candidate states. They share considerable common ground, both with regard to their analytical frameworks and empirical findings. Their framework of analysis is situated within the debate between rationalist and constructivist institutionalisms in International Relations and Comparative Politics, which also makes them strongly compatible with the framework underpinning studyies of Europeanisation in member states (Börzel and Risse 2003). They also share one key empirical finding, namely that the impact of the EU on candidate countries is differential across countries and issue areas. At the same time, the empirical findings with regard to candidate Europeanisation appear much more clear-cut in identifying a dominant mechanism of the EU's domestic impact. Rationalist institutionalism, with its emphasis on credible external incentives underpinning EU conditionality and material costs incurred by domestic veto players, appears to be well-suited to explaining variation in the broad patterns of Europeanisation in candidate countries. A key question for the next stage of this research agenda is whether the post-accession

dynamics of Europeanisation confirm the findings of the pre-accession phase.

This *Living Review* provides an overview of the key research questions and dependent variables of (primarily theoretically-informed) studies of candidate country Europeanisation, their conceptual frameworks, empirical foci, and main findings. It concludes with identifying emerging gaps and new directions in this research area.

The empirical focus of the review is limited in two significant ways. The first limitation stems from the general focus of the Europeanisation literature on domestic responses to top-down adjustment pressures emanating from the EU. On the one hand, this excludes influences from other European or transatlantic international organisations, such as the Council of Europe or NATO (although some studies do consider the interplay between the EU and such organisations). On the other hand, this focus somewhat neglects the recipient-driven adjustments to the EU that did not result from EU demands and instances in which the EU passively provided ideational inspiration for domestic change. This restriction might have some conceptual implications, since precisely those instances of 'Europeanisation' are more likely to result from mechanisms emphasised by constructivist institutionalism.

The second limitation is the predominant focus on eastern enlargement and the CEECs (and, to some extent, the candidates in the Western Balkans). Since the theoretically informed literature on candidate Europeanisation developed mainly in this context, this limitation reflects also the state of research. These countries are also particularly instructive cases for Europeanisation effects, in view of the often very substantial political and economic adjustment costs resulting from the systemic transformation to democracy and market economies. However, there are also studies of the other two countries involved in the EU's 2004 enlargement that directly engage the Europeanisation literature - Malta (Cini 2000; Mitchell 2002) and Cyprus (Engert 2010; Featherstone 2001; Sepos 2005, 2008; Tocci and Kovziridze 2004). Moreover, a lively debate over the Europeanisation of Turkey is emerging, especially with regard to the EU's impact on democratisation (see e.g. Diez et al. 2005; Engert 2010; Heper 2005; Müftüler Bac 2005; Kubicek 2005; Öniş 2007; Oniş and Yilmaz 2009; Tocci 2005) which some studies cover in comparative analyses alongside the CEECs (see e.g. Kubicek 2003a; Schimmelfennig et al. 2003, 2006). Especially these comparative studies demonstrate that the conceptual framework derived from the Europeanisation of the CEEC candidates is more broadly applicable beyond the case of eastern enlargement – while taking due account of the fact that the setting of the pertinent factors, and accordingly the impact of the EU, might vary in these different contexts.

2 Research questions

In line with most definitions of 'Europeanisation' in the literature (see e.g. Börzel 2005; Börzel and Risse 2003, 2007; Cowles *et al.* 2001; Falkner 2003; Featherstone and Radaelli 2003; Héritier *et al.* 2001; Knill and Lehmkuhl 2002; Ladrech 2010; Mair 2004; Radaelli 2003), studies of the Europeanisation of candidate countries are primarily concerned with analysing the EU's domestic impact in candidates. The following examples of concrete research questions all reflect this focus on the EU's domestic impact:

- 'do we see convergence in [the CEECs' political reform] trajectories and, if so, how much of this convergence was caused by the leverage of the EU?' (Vachudová 2005: 2);
- 'how much have EU ... external pressures or incentives shaped [CEE elites' institutional and policy] choices?' (Jacoby 2004: 2);
- 'under what conditions do non-member states adopt EU rules?' (Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005c: 8), or
- 'when and how [has] ... the EU influenced governments to pass certain legislation' (Kelley 2004b: 2)?

Despite the apparent differences in how these questions are framed, in essence they all boil down to one main question: under what conditions are the EU's attempts to influence candidate countries effective? Or in other words: what factors explain variation in the EU's influence across countries and issue areas? This question contains two parts. The first is an empirical assessment of the extent to which the EU has a domestic impact. The second part is an analytical question: what factors account for this (lack of) impact and through which causal mechanism does the EU exercise its influence? The following two sub-sections discuss these main questions and provide some indicative examples of studies that are guided by such questions. Section 3 on 'empirical findings' will then review the different answers to these questions that the literature provides (with a more comprehensive indication of the relevant literature).

2.1 Extent and nature of the EU's impact

The dependent variable of the analysis is usually the extent to which the EU influences domestic developments in candidate countries in specific issue areas. Most studies distinguish in broad terms whether or not the EU has an influence on domestic change (or whether the EU's influence is strong/weak) and whether a candidate country complies with the EU's demands. Some studies explicitly include into their conceptual frameworks explanations for domestic change in the candidate countries that has no causal link to the EU's attempts to exert influence. For example, Jacoby (2004) identifies voluntary forms of emulating EU rules, in which post-communist institutions use such EU rules either as faithful 'copies' (that were rare) or more approximate 'templates' (e.g. in health care) – neither of which results from EU pressures. The contributions in Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier (2005b) consider 'lesson-drawing' as an alternative explanation for the adoption of EU rules by candidate countries, where such rules might be used to address domestic policy failure, regardless of possible EU rewards for doing so. Andonova (2003) focuses on the indirect economic incentives for internationalised sectors of the economy to adjust rapidly to EU environmental standards – to some extent independently of the requirements of EU membership.

Increasingly, studies have moved beyond a binary categorisation of the EU's impact. Sometimes this focus includes a temporary dimension in assessing whether the EU's influence is smooth, or whether adjustment is reluctant and incremental. Other studies differentiate more specifically between different types of change that the EU induces. For example, studies in Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier (2005b) distinguish between formal change (the legal transposition of rules) and behavioural change (practical application and enforcement) (see also Falkner and Treib 2008).Related to this distinction between formal change and practice is the observation of a specific kind of superficial domestic change through 'Potemkin harmonisation' (Jacoby 1999). Such changes were carried out for the sole purpose of EU monitoring and are only weakly institutionalised in order to minimise their constraints on target actors (Goetz 2005; see also Hughes and Sasse 2004: 526; Hughes *et al.* 2004). Finally, Jacoby (2004: 8–12) identifies four different types of impact that the EU can have as a result of CEEC elites' attempts to emulate EU rules, ranging from 'open struggle' and 'scaffolding' to 'continuous learning' and 'homesteading' by domestic groups.

2.2 Conditions for the EU's impact: mediating factors

Explanatory studies usually do not only ask whether the EU has influence on the candidate countries, but also *how* and under what conditions the EU exercises such influence. The conditions and factors that determine the effectiveness of the EU's influence are the independent variables in this research area. Some studies frame their question in terms of the relative importance of the EU's influence versus the domestic politics (e.g. Hughes and Sasse 2004; Hughes *et al.* 2004) or of international versus domestic factors (Kurtz and Barnes 2002). Other studies focus primarily on how factors at the international level affect the EU's influence (see e.g. Grabbe 2001, 2003, 2006; Smith 1998, 2003), or primarily on factors at the domestic level (see e.g. Brusis 2005; Schimmelfennig 2005; Vachudová 2005). But most studies focus on how a variation of factors at *both* the international and domestic level affects the EU's impact.

Independent variables at the domestic level that mediate the EU's influence on candidate countries resemble more closely those identified in the analytical framework of Europeanisation in member states. The independent variables that are located at the international level relate to differences in the strategies and instruments that the EU uses, and how the EU applies them. The instruments through which the EU generates adjustment pressures are one key difference between the Europeanisation of member states and candidate countries. The most prominent strategy of the EU to influence candidate countries is the use of conditionality: the offer of positive incentives (such as EU membership) as a reward for states who meet the EU's demands to adopt certain rules. However, the strategy of conditionality is far from uniform and homogenous. The EU's application of conditionality varies – across issue areas, target countries, and over time – and the factors accounting for such variation are explanatory factors for differences in the EU's influence (see Section 3). Explanatory factors at the international level do not only relate to variation in the application of conditionality. The EU also uses other strategies than conditionality to affect domestic change, such as persuasion and socialisation of elites. Again, a number of factors – not only at the domestic, but also at the international level – affect the effectiveness of such strategies, and hence the EU's impact.

Some studies explicitly contrast the relative effectiveness of conditionality and strategies of 'learning' and persuasion (see e.g. Bauer *et al.* 2007; Jacoby 2004; Kelley 2004a,b; Kubicek 2003a,b; Schimmelfennig *et al.* 2003; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005b). Since these alternative strategies also draw on different causal factors favoured respectively by rationalist and constructivist approaches, they can be considered alternative (but not necessarily mutually exclusive) mechanisms or models of candidate country Europeanisation. The analytical framework devised in these studies therefore provides a generalisable and suitably broad basis to study the explanatory power of international and domestic factors emphasised by rationalist and constructivist approaches respectively.

3 Theoretical framework: institutionalist approaches to the EU's impact

An analytical framework that contrasts rationalist and constructivist causal models for the EU's impact, and that focuses on factors identified by each of these approaches at the international and domestic level, provides a highly promising framework to structure the research agenda on candidate country Europeanisation. It allows not only larger comparative studies to make a contribution to the broader debate, but also studies with a narrower focus. Moreover, while this framework of analysis reflects the distinctiveness of the Europeanisation of candidate countries, it also fits well with the conceptual approaches used in the study of member state Europeanisation.

The Europeanisation of member states emphasizes mediating factors for the EU's domestic impact derived from two analytically distinctive approaches – rationalist institutionalism and sociological (or constructivist) institutionalism (see e.g. Börzel 2005; Börzel and Risse 2003; Cowles et al. 2001; for a different approach, distinguishing between policy types, see Knill and Lehmkuhl 2002). Rationalist institutionalism suggests that the EU's domestic impact follows a 'logic of consequences' rather than a 'logic of appropriateness' (March and Olsen 1989: 160). Adaptational pressure from the EU changes the opportunity structure for utility-maximising domestic actors. It empowers certain actors by offering legal and political resources to pursue domestic change. Formal domestic institutions and veto players are the main factors impeding or facilitating changes in response to EU adjustment pressures. By contrast, sociological institutionalism emphasises that such responses follow a 'logic of appropriateness'. The EU's domestic impact results from a process of socialisation in which domestic actors internalise EU norms that they regard as legitimate. Domestic norm entrepreneurs, as well as the normative resonance between EU rules and domestic cultural understandings and informal institutions, are key mediating factors for whether domestic actors engage in a social learning process through which EU rules redefine their interests and identities.

Likewise, most theoretically-informed studies of the Europeanisation of candidate countries are generally set within the framework of institutionalist theory (see e.g. Bauer *et al.* 2007; Dimitrova 2004; Epstein 2005, 2006, 2008a; Goetz 2002; Grabbe 2006; Jacoby 2004; Johnson 2006; Kelley 2004b; Kubicek 2003b; Magen and Morlino 2009; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005b; Schimmelfennig *et al.* 2006) and in particular the debate between rationalism and constructivism (or sociological institutionalism).

Such studies contrast the use of conditionality – as a strategy emphasised by rationalist institutionalist approaches – with persuasion and socialisation strategies that sociological institutionalism is best suited to analyse, even if they use somewhat different labels for the alternative mechanisms. For example, Kelley (2004a) contrasts 'incentives' and 'normative pressure'; Kubicek (2003b) 'conditionality' and 'convergence' through the 'spread of norms'; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier (2005c) 'external incentives' and 'social learning'; or Bauer *et al.* (2007) distinguish 'compliance' and 'communication'. These studies formulate specific hypotheses according to which the two approaches would expect the EU (not) to have an influence (see Table 2), both with regard to factors relating to the EU's strategies and domestic factors.

At the same time, while the two approaches emphasise analytically distinct mechanisms, these are – at least partly – complementary, and not necessarily mutually exclusive (see also Jacoby 2004: 20–40; Kubicek 2003b: 20; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005c: 25). Indeed, as Kelley (2004a) points out, in the issue area of minority policy, the EU never relied exclusively on conditionality, which was always combined with normative pressures by international institutions. In such cases, it is difficult to disentangle the relative importance of either mechanism, but it is possible to contrast the effectiveness of exclusive normative pressure from normative pressures underpinned by conditionality. Likewise, Epstein (2008a) emphasises the social context of conditionality rather than a simple either/or debate; and Johnson (2006) suggests a 'two-track' diffusion model in which both mechanisms work simultaneously on different domestic groups within the same issue area. Jacoby (2004) goes one step further to suggests the concept of 'embedded rationalism' as a synthesis between the various strands of institutionalist theory.

Table 2 depicts the key independent variables analysed in explanatory studies of variations in the effectiveness of the EU's influence.

3.1 Rationalist institutionalism

Rationalist institutionalism focuses on the EU's use of conditionality to influence candidate countries. Most studies that analyse the effectiveness of conditionality identify factors relating to its application by the EU to explain variations in its impact. At the domestic level, rationalist institutionalism focuses – just as in studies of member state Europeanisation – on the differential empowerment of domestic actors.

3.1.1 EU strategy: credible incentives

A number of studies consider the clarity of the EU's demands as an important factor increasing the likelihood of effectiveness. Clarity means that the candidates know what they need to do if they decide to comply with the EU's conditions. It applies to both whether a certain issue area is included in the EU's conditionality and what particular rules the candidates need to adopt (Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005c). Uncertainty might stem from evolving rules in the EU, such as the Schengen acquis (Grabbe 2003, 2005), or from the absence of a single EU model in many policy areas. Uncertainty also arises from internal conflict within the Commission and among the member states about the application of conditionality. Such conflicts can arise from different views about which model might be most suitable for candidates. For example, initially some parts of the Commission informally advocated a model of regional policy based on democratic regional self-government, before the Commission expressed a preference for more centralised management of the structural funds that limited the EU's influence (Hughes et al. 2004). A particular case of uncertainty is the possibility for domestic and transnational actors to present the adoption of particular rules as an element of EU conditionality even if they are not (Parau 2010). If such a strategy succeeds due to the government's (mistaken) belief in the link between EU rewards and rule adoption, the EU plays a causal role in domestic change, even if it is not a typical instance of Europeanisation as the adoption of EU rules.

Intra-EU conflict about the application of conditionality also relates to another key factor that affects the EU's impact: the credibility of EU conditionality. Credibility has two sides. The candidates must be certain that they will receive the promised rewards after meeting the EU's demands. Yet they also must believe that they will only receive the reward if they indeed fully meet the requirements. Thus, credibility depends on a consistent, merit-based application of conditionality by the EU (Kubicek 2003b: 18; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005c: 13-16; Vachudová 2005: 112–120). It suffers if political conflicts inside the EU make candidates doubt that the EU will deliver the promised rewards (as in the debates surrounding the possible accession of Turkey), or if some actors inside the EU indicate that adjustment in certain issue areas will be assessed very strictly (see e.g. Sissenich 2005). Credibility also suffers if candidates suspect that political favouritism, ulterior motives, or side-payments led the EU to reward candidates who did not meet (all) the requirements (fully) (as in the run-up to the start of negotiations with Bulgaria, Romania, or Croatia). In the case of the 2004 enlargement, the credibility of conditionality also decreased once candidate countries no longer had to fear exclusion from accession (see also Haughton 2007), especially after the EU set a date for their accession (Dimitrova and Steunenberg 2007). The EU sought to overcome this problem in the accession of Bulgaria and Romania by maintaining monitoring after the signing of the accession treaties with a view to postponing the accession date if subsequent reform progress was insufficient.

	Rationalist institutionalism	${f Sociological/constructivist}\ institutionalism$
EU strategy	Conditionality	Socialisation
Facilitating international factors	 clarity of EU demands credibility of conditionality (including consistency of application, and intra-EU consensus on rewarding compliance) size of rewards and power asymmetry temporal proximity of rewards 	 legitimacy of EU demands legitimacy of the process through which the EU formulates demands and promotes rules
	linkages to Western Europemonitoring capacity	
Domestic facilitating factors	 domestic costs of adopting rules for governments (for political conditions: constellation of party system (liberal/illiberal) quality of political competition at moment of regime change ethnic policy preferences in parliament; more generally: veto players internationalisation of pol- icy sector) societal mobilisation supportive formal institutions administrative capacities 	 identification with the EU positive normative resonance with domestic rules transnational (epistemic) networks

Table 2: Conceptual framework: main independent variables

The credibility of conditionality is also linked to the ability of the EU to monitor effectively the fulfilment of its requirements (Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005c: 15). Information asymmetries usually work in favour of candidate countries. In the case of eastern enlargement, the EU has therefore made significant investment into its monitoring capacity, which contrasts starkly with the decentralised mechanism of monitoring compliance with EU rules in the member states.

Superior bargaining power, resulting from asymmetrical interdependence in favour of the EU, is a precondition for the ability of the EU to withhold rewards if its conditions have not been met (Moravcsik and Vachudová 2003; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005c: 14). However, the EU's bargaining power affects another factor as well: the size of the rewards and benefits that the EU can use as leverage (Grabbe 2003; Kubicek 2003b: 17–18; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005c: 13; Vachudová 2005: 63–79, 108–110). The ultimate reward of EU membership is indeed a sizeable benefit for candidates, but sometimes the payment of the reward is distant. The use of intermediate rewards is therefore important. The EU can tie offers of trade and aid, as well as its progress to any of the multiple stages of the accession progress to the fulfilment of specific conditions (e.g. Grabbe 2003: 316; Dimitrova and Steunenberg 2007).

By contrast, Levitsky and Way (2006; see also Way and Levitsky 2007; Kopstein and Reilly 2000) suggest that for external pressure to be effective, asymmetrical bargaining power and sizable incentives – strong leverage (see also Vachudová 2005) – needed to be combined with another international factor, namely various forms of 'linkage' with Western Europe and the U.S. (economic, political, organisational, social, and information linkages, as well as civil society linkages and geographic proximity) (see also Kopstein and Reilly 2000; Levitz and Pop-Eleches 2010b). Schimmelfennig and Scholtz (2008) control, rather than test, for transnational exchanges. They find that geographical proxies for transnational transactions performed overall reasonably well, but cover rather diverse impacts of transnational exchange that needs to be disentangled.

3.1.2 Domestic politics: adaptation costs, differential empowerment and state capacity

Rationalist institutionalism also specifies a number of mediating factors at the domestic level that mediate the EU's influence. These factors are in line with the rationalist institutionalist argument advanced in the literature of the Europeanisation of EU member states that the EU's influence works through empowering domestic actors that benefit from EU legislation. Rationalist approaches to candidate Europeanisation suggest that in order to have influence, the EU needs to have domestic allies in target countries (see e.g. Jacoby 2006; Kubicek 2003b: 19; Way and Levitsky 2007), or at least the adjustment costs for target governments must not be prohibitively high. A special case of low domestic adjustment costs are instances in which governments can expect intrinsic benefits in domestic politics from adopting EU rules. For example, in the case of Turkey, EU demands about civilian control over the military fit well with the preferences of the AKP government. Yet if the government is not able to realise such preferences in a purely domestic setting, without the link to the EU's rewards, the EU still plays a causal role in such instances of Europeanisation.

Some studies identify more specific sets of factors that determine the adaptation costs for national governments, depending on whether the EU's influence is aimed at the polity dimension (democratic principles, human rights and minority protection) or the policy dimension. In the polity dimension, Vachudová (2005) and Schimmelfennig (2005) (see also Schimmelfennig 2007; Schimmelfennig *et al.* 2006) identify as a key facilitating factor the presence of a liberal democratic government, or a liberal party constellation, in which the major political parties agree on liberal reforms and integration into Western international organisations. For such governments, the costs of meeting the EU's demands are not prohibitively high. More specifically, Vachudová (2005) emphasises the quality of political competition at the moment of regime change, which in turn

depends on a strong opposition to communism and a reforming communist party. Kelley (2004b) operationalises domestic costs with regard to the EU's demands for minority rights as the presence of authoritarian leaders, or the dominance in parliament of nationalists over liberal ethnic policy preferences.

Another strand of the literature relates governments' adjustment costs and political constraints to communist and pre-communist legacies. Such legacies matter in particular as 'deep conditions' that shape post-communist conditions such as budgetary constraints, administrative capacities, and levels of societal mobilisation (Cirtautas and Schimmelfennig 2010). Pop-Eleches (2007b) argues that different historical legacies (including geography, cultural/religious heritage, economic, social conditions, and institutional legacies) affected different aspects of democratisation.

In the policy dimension, a low 'actor density' in a policy area (Jacoby 2004: 9), or a low number of veto players (Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005c) is a key facilitating factor. In turn, the number of actors opposed to the EU's demands is likely to be low if a policy area does not have strong institutional legacies (see also e.g. Hughes *et al.* 2004), or if a sector of the economy is highly internationalised (Andonova 2003).

Adjustment costs are not the only domestic mediating factor in the policy dimension. In line with a prominent argument in the literature of compliance with EU law among the member states (for an overview, see Treib 2006; Hille and Knill 2006) suggest that the alignment of candidate countries might not simply depend on their domestic adjustments costs, but on their administrative capacities. Toshkov (2008, 2009) provides evidence that both government capacities and political preferences have a strong effect on the transposition of EU law in the candidates. Other studies have extended the argument about the importance of administrative capacities to argue that the effective implementation of EU rules in candidate countries require both strong states and strong civil societies that have the capacity to mobilise in order to claim the rights that EU rules bestow on them (Dimitrova 2010; Sissenich 2007, 2010; Börzel 2010; Börzel and Buzogány 2010b; Sedelmeier 2008: 809–810, 818–819).

3.2 Constructivist institutionalism

Rationalist approaches discard processes of socialisation and persuasion as a mechanism for the EU's domestic impact, but constructivism or sociological institutionalism are well equipped to analyse them. As a result of such processes, elites in candidate countries become convinced that the EU's rules are legitimate and have an intrinsic value. Governments thus adopt the EU's rules regardless of the material incentives that the EU might offer for doing so.

3.2.1 EU strategy: socialisation and persuasion

A number of factors increase the likelihood that persuasion and socialisation are effective. At the international level, the key factors are the legitimacy of the substantive rules that the EU promotes as well as the legitimacy of the process through which the EU promotes such rules. If a candidate country considers that the process through which EU conditions are formulated as legitimate, it is more likely to adopt these rules. Facilitating factors thus include the participation of the target countries in setting conditions and the making of rules – both of which were problematic in the case of candidates as opposed to full members. Since the EU demanded unilateral adjustments, legitimacy increased if it used soft tactics rather than overt pressure (Kubicek 2003b: 16), and with a 'low density of EU demands', which allows domestic actors 'to engage in relatively unpressured "learning" (Jacoby 2004: 10).'

Furthermore, substantive rules are more likely to be perceived as legitimate if they are codified internationally or in the EU's own *acquis* (see also Freyburg *et al.* 2009). The conditions for candidates must not be more onerous than for the incumbents (Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005c:

18–19; Schwellnus 2006); they must be normatively consistent and there must be a strong international consensus on the technical and political appropriateness of policy prescriptions (Epstein 2006, 2008a).

3.2.2 Domestic politics: normative resonance

Constructivist institutionalism emphasises that the EU's impact does not (only) depend on the domestic material interest constellations. If a candidate country – elites and publics – positively identifies with the EU, or holds it in high regard, the government is more likely to be open to persuasion and to consider the rules that the EU promotes as legitimate and appropriate (Epstein 2008a; Kubicek 2003b: 14–15; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005c: 19. Another crucial domestic factor is the extent to which there is a 'cultural match' or 'resonance' between EU demands and domestic rules and political discourses, or at least an absence of countervailing norms, due to the 'novelty' of a sector and previous policy failure (Brosig 2010; Epstein 2008a; Grigorescu 2002; Kubicek 2003b: 13–14; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005c: 20; Schwellnus 2005; Dimitrova and Rhinard 2005).

Transnational networks that connect elites in candidate countries with the EU are a facilitating factor for the EU's influence for both rationalist and constructivist institutionalist approaches. The latter emphasise particularly the role of transnational epistemic communities that do not only exercise pressures on governments but contribute to persuading them of the legitimacy of the rules in question (Johnson 2006; Kubicek 2003b: 15–16; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005c: 23). The EU's twinning programme, in which officials seconded from the member states assisted their counterparts in the candidate countries with adopting EU legislation in their area of expertise, could facilitate such processes (Tulmets 2005). However, obstacles to influence and 'cognitive convergence' include factors such as the institutional fluidity of programmes and the politicisation of projects, and their success depends much on the individuals involved (Grabbe 2003: 315; Papadimitriou and Phinnemore 2004; Pridham 2005: 125–126; Steffens 2003).

4 Empirical findings I: EU impact on candidate countries

The empirical findings of studies of candidates confirm some key insights of research on member state Europeanisation. First, the EU's impact is differential across countries and issues (see also Bauer *et al.* 2007; Börzel and Risse 2007; Börzel and Sedelmeier 2006; Goetz 2005; Grabbe 2003: 317). This finding might be somewhat surprising, as there are good reasons to believe that the EU's impact in the candidates should be more pervasive and induce greater convergence. The EU's conditionality and its tight link with progress in accession negotiations induced strong top-down pressures. At the domestic level, post-communist institutions are less firmly entrenched than in the older member states (see also Goetz and Wollmann 2001; Grabbe 2003: 306–308; Héritier 2005; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005c). The EU's influence on candidates in the context of eastern enlargement was arguably indeed greater than on member states, and induced a certain extent of convergence. Still, the broader patterns suggest that diversity persists, both between eastern and western Europe and within the new member states (see also Bohle and Greskovits 2007; Bruszt 2002).

At the same time, some of the theoretical findings of the study of candidate Europeanisation are much more clear-cut than those emerging from member state Europeanisation. Research on the member states does not identify a dominant mechanism of Europeanisation. By contrast, rationalist institutionalism, with its focus on the EU's use of conditionality and domestic veto players, appears well-suited to explaining the main patterns of candidate country Europeanisation. The sections below illustrate that factors emphasised by rationalist institutionalism – in particular the credibility of the incentive of membership and the incumbent government's material power costs of adjustment – generally account better for variation in the EU's influence on liberal democratic principles and socio-economic policies than the factors emphasised by constructivist institutionalism (see also Kelley 2004b; Kubicek 2003a; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005a, 2006).

4.1 Impact on the polity

Analyses of Europeanisation in the polity dimension usually focus on the EU's impact on the national executive. In candidate countries, the accession process had a strong impact on the organisation of core executives, but without resulting in convergent structures across the candidates. One particularity of the Europeanisation of candidate countries' polities is that the EU also had a direct impact on on fundamental principles of liberal democracy. The EU's political conditionality thus led to a much stronger impact on this aspect of the polity in the candidate countries than in the incumbents, even if this influence has been strongly constrained by domestic factors. Although there are instances when the EU even influenced core issues of national statehood, such as the negotiation of the constitution of Montenegro (Vujović and Komar 2008), similarly to member state Europeanisation, the EU's impact on polities has been nonetheless generally more limited than its policy impact.

4.1.1 Liberal democratic principles

The EU's impact on democracy and political rights in CEECs has become a well-established subfield of research. Many of the contributions come not only from the EU studies community, but also from the broader disciplines of International Relations and Comparative Politics. They include the literature on the external dimension of post-communist transition to democracy, in which the theme of the 'return to Europe' played a prominent role. Such studies are more generally interested in the international dimension or domestic conditions of democratisation; they often do not only focus on the EU and are less likely to use the terminology of 'Europeanisation' (see e.g. Cooley 2003; Kubicek 2003a; Knack 2004; Levitsky and Way 2006; Magen and Morlino 2009; Pevehouse 2002, 2005; Pridham and Ágh 2001; Pridham *et al.* 1994; Whitehead 2001; Zielonka and Pravda 2001). Legal studies have also contributed to the analysis of the Europeanisation of candidates countries' polities through a focus on the adaptation of the CEECs' constitutions and legal order in view of accession (see Albi 2005; Poplawska 2004; Sadurski 2004, 2006; Sajo 2004).

Most studies find that the EU's ability to influence patterns of democratisation in the candidate countries has been limited. Pop-Eleches (2007b) argues that different historical legacies explain variation in democratisation outcomes, while both external conditionality and other domestic factors, such as initial election outcomes, institutional choices and geographic diffusion, played a more modest role. Other analyses that focus specifically on the EU's ability to promote democracy, human rights and minority rights in candidate countries find that the EU's influence has crucially depended on the regime type and the constellation of party systems in the candidates (Kelley 2004a,b; Schimmelfennig 2005; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005a; Schimmelfennig et al. 2006; Vachudová 2005). In states with liberal democratic governments (such as the democratic frontrunners, Poland, Hungary and the Czech Republic) and a liberal party system constellation, the EU did not need to use democratic conditionality heavily. In such countries, the EU was also generally successful when it used conditionality to promote particular norms, despite initial domestic opposition. An example are minority rights in the Baltic states (Brosig 2010; Kelley 2004a; Schimmelfennig et al. 2006), even if some authors are more sceptical in their assessment of the EU's impact in this area (see e.g. Hughes and Sasse 2003; Sasse 2005; Schwellnus 2005; Rechel 2008; Vermeersch 2003).

In contrast to countries with liberal democratic governments, the EU's impact on states dominated by a nationalist and/or authoritarian leadership and an illiberal party system constellation (e.g. Slovakia under Meciar, Croatia under Tudjman, or Serbia under Milosevic) was negligible (see also Dimitrova and Pridham 2004; Kubicek 2003a; Pridham 2002; Rybář and Malová 2004; Schimmelfennig *et al.* 2003). For such governments, the domestic political power costs of meeting the EU's demands were prohibitive.

The EU's impact on democratic consolidation was most pronounced in fragile democracies that did not quickly install liberal-democratic regimes in the early 1990s (Armingeon and Careja 2008; Ekiert *et al.* 2007; Noutcheva and Bechev 2008; Pop-Eleches 2007a; Pridham 2005; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005a; Schimmelfennig *et al.* 2006; Vachudová 2005). The EU had an impact in such states when nationalist or authoritarian forces lost elections to liberal forces, such as in Slovakia, Croatia, or Romania. Once more liberal opposition parties assumed power, the EU's conditionality – if combined with a credible accession perspective – had a lock-in effect that endured subsequent changes in government (Schimmelfennig 2005; Vachudová 2005).

Debate persists on whether the EU was able to influence the electoral defeat of nationalist/authoritarian governments. Schimmelfennig (2005); Schimmelfennig *et al.* (2006) argue that the EU's influence is limited to the intergovernmental channel (once favourable governments are in power). By contrast, Pop-Eleches (2007a: 147) also suggests that the EU 'played an important role in strengthening democratic challengers' in 'electoral revolutions.' Vachudová (2005) sketches a more comprehensive argument of how the EU influenced the outcome of such elections indirectly and helped create more competitive political systems in 'illiberal' states that pushed them to a liberal political trajectory. The EU empowered liberal reformers by informing electorates about the implication of their choices for the country's accession prospects and facilitating cooperation and moderation of opposition forces. Vachudová thus suggests that even if the EU did not directly influence voters' choices, it had a tremendous influence on the nature of the elites that won power in 'watershed elections' that marked the departure from illiberal systems.

The importance of domestic costs as the main constraining factor underscores the explanatory power of rationalist institutionalism for the general patterns of the EU's impact in the polity dimension. The limitations of the EU's impact on minority rights that some authors observe can also be well explained within a rationalist framework, to the extent that they are related to the lack of clear conditions, inconsistent application, or superficial monitoring (see e.g. Hughes and Sasse 2003; Rechel 2008; Sasse 2005, 2008; Spirova and Budd 2008; Vermeersch 2003, 2007). At the same time, Schwellnus (2005) argues that the inclusion of factors emphasised in constructivist approaches – especially domestic resonance – can provide complementary, but more convincing, explanations of the domestic processes leading to the adoption of minority rights and antidiscrimination legislation, and of the particular choice of rules within the scope of the EU's conditionality.

Although most studies emphasise the limitations of the EU's impact on democracy and human rights, they still consider its impact as positive. However, some studies suggest that the if the EU was not sufficiently sensitive to the implications of its interventions in domestic politics for national sovereignty, it undermined liberal-democratic politicians and NGOs, since their authoritarian and nationalist rivals could present them as 'agents of foreign powers' (Pop-Eleches 2007a: 153). Spoerri and Freyberg-Inan (2008) argue that in Serbia, the EU's condition of full cooperation with the International Criminal Tribunal for the former Yugoslavia (ICTY) had precisely such a detrimental effect on democratic reforms. The negative perception of the ICTY bolstered anti-reform forces at the expense of the liberal-democratic movement.

4.1.2 National core executives and judiciaries

The EU had a strong and systematic impact on state institutions of CEE – executives, legislatures, and judiciaries (Zubek and Goetz 2010). The EU's impact on national core executives has been pronounced for those institutional arrangements that link national executives and the EU. This impact is largely the result of the functional pressures arising from the need to organise relations with the EU, formulate negotiating positions, and implement EU policies rather than from a deliberate attempt by the EU to change executive structures. And just as in western Europe, there is considerable variation in the extent to which intra-governmental coordination is fragmented or centralised (Dimitrova and Toshkov 2007; Fink-Hafner 2005; Goetz 2001; Goetz 2005: 271–272; Lippert et al. 2001). At the same time, especially in the later stages of the accession process, a tendency towards more centralised and hierarchical coordination could be observed, for example in Poland (Zubek 2001, 2005, 2008). Evidence from earlier enlargements, such as in the case of Spain, suggests that a centralisation of intra-governmental coordination in order to respond to the high coordination requirements of accession negotiations may prove sticky even after accession (Jones 2000). In the case of eastern enlargement, such arrangements appear less durable. Dimitrova and Toshkov (2007) analyse the evolution of coordination structures for relations with the EU in a comparative study of all ECE candidate countries that joined the EU in 2004. They find that the new members have repeatedly made far-reaching changes during the accession preparations as well as after joining the EU. Such changes are related to changes in government. Coalition governments with a higher number of parties and greater ideological differences resulted in greater fragmentation of coordination mechanisms, while strong bureaucracies with vested interests in the status quo reduced the scope of change. Fink-Hafner (2007) also finds a significant impact of party political competition on coordination structures in Estonia, Hungary and Slovenia, but argues that administrative traditions were an important additional factor that filtered EU adjustment pressures.

Political science research on the Europeanisation of the judiciary in candidates is still fairly rare. Piana (2009) finds that the EU pressure for reform had an impact on the governance of the judicial branch and the governance of the court in Poland, the Czech Republic, and Hungary. However, in view of the absence of the promotion of a clear institutional model by the EU, divergent outcomes of judicial reform across these countries reflect the pre-existing distribution of power in the domestic actor constellation.

4.2 Impact on politics

4.2.1 Political parties, party system, and interest groups

With regard to the politics dimension – political parties and interest groups – studies of the EU's impact on candidates have only slowly started to emerge. Analyses of the Europeanisation of interest groups or of the EU's impact on civil society organisations are still rare, but have started to grow strongly. There is some evidence that domestic civil societies were empowered through transnational networks in the context of EU conditionality (Fagan 2005; Forest 2006; Iankova 2009; Parau 2009, 2010; Perez-Solorzano Borragan 2004, 2005). Yet the overall picture is still one of weak civil societies in CEECs (Sissenich 2010) that are unable to benefit from the opportunity structure provided by EU membership, and where Europeanisation primarily empowered those groups that already had sufficient capacities (Börzel 2010; Börzel and Buzogány 2010a,b; Carmin and Fagan 2010; Fagan 2010; Kutter and Trappmann 2010).

There is a larger literature on the Europeanisation of political parties and party systems in the candidates, but it is considerably smaller than the literature focused on the polity or policy dimensions of the EU's impact. Studies of EU conditionality often overlook this area, as the EU does not usually attempt to exercise direct influence on party systems. The exception are cases in which the EU rather openly took sides in national elections against nationalist and/or authoritarian parties (see e.g. Pridham 2002; Rybář and Malová 2004; Vachudová 2005), but such studies are then usually placed within the context of the EU's impact on democratisation, rather than the party system. At the same time, the EU's political conditionality has been an important indirect influence on political parties in candidate countries (Hooghe and Vachudová 2009; Ladrech 2009; Lewis 2008; Vachudová 2008a).

While studies of the Europeanisation of political parties in the older member states find that the EU only has a limited influence on national party systems (Mair 2000), the EU's impact in Central and Eastern Europe appears more significant (Hooghe and Vachudová 2009). The unconsolidated party systems of the eastern candidate countries may have been more susceptible to external influence, not least through European transnational party organisations that have been particularly active (Dakowska 2002; Lewis 2003; Pridham 1999; Pridham 2005: 164–166; Spirova 2008). Moreover, the proximity of accession has made the EU a more politicised issue than in the old member states (Ladrech 2009).

The reactions in the candidate countries' party systems to the question of EU membership have attracted considerable attention. One particularly prominent focus in this area is on Euroscepticism in the party systems of candidates/new members (Ágh 2002; Batory and Sitter 2004; Henderson 2005; Kopecký and Mudde 2002; Lewis 2005; Taggart and Szczerbiak 2004). Another central focus is the politics of the accession referenda (Baun *et al.* 2006; Cini 2004; Fowler 2004; Hanley 2004; Henderson 2004; Krašovec and Lajh 2004; Mikkel and Pridham 2004; Neumayer 2008; Szczerbiak 2004; Szczerbiak and Taggart 2004a,b, 2005). In-depth, book-length analyses of individual candidate countries have been slower to emerge (but see Batory 2008).

Enyedi and Lewis (2007) identify two main areas in which the EU's impact was most apparent. The EU constrained the scope for alternative government coalitions by creating disincentives to form coalitions with extremist parties (see also Vachudová 2008b). In turn, these constraints led to a decline in radical parties in the party system. Moreover, the EU contributed indirectly to a 'standardisation' of party ideologies, as parties in the candidate countries oriented themselves towards transnational European party families. Spirova (2008) also claims that European party federations had a very direct impact on party development and their choice of electoral strategies. By contrast, an analysis of 27 post-communist countries by Armingeon and Careja (2008) finds that the EU has not been important for domestic processes, such as cabinet formation or party system structuring, in accession countries.

With regard to the organisation of political parties, Lewis (2008) suggests that the EU had

an effect primarily on more transparent regulations of party financing and, to a lesser extent, in prompting a shift towards less hierarchical internal structures. By contrast, Krašovec and Lajh (2008) only find a very limited impact on the organisation of parties in Slovenia.

Studies of the Europeanisation of party systems in the candidate countries in the Western Balkans tend to find a somewhat more limited impact of the EU than in the candidate countries that joined the EU in 2004. As the domestic conditions in these countries have been less conducive for the impact of EU conditionality, its influence on the current candidate countries is also weaker (Ladrech 2008). Fink-Hafner (2008) explains the differences in the EU's impact across (potential) candidates in the Western Balkans – stronger in Croatia and weaker in Serbia, with Montenegro in between – with the higher degree of the institutionalisation of the party system, closer links with European party federations, and more positive voter attitudes toward the EU. Despite this comparatively weaker impact in Serbia, Orlović (2008) still finds an impact on the programmes and organisation of those Serbian political parties that have joined European party organisations.

4.2.2 Adverse effects on political competition, accountability, and grass-roots politics

While studies of the impact of the EU on democratisation in candidate countries generally consider such an impact to have a positive effect, some analyses suggest that the EU's influence might have been detrimental to democracy in (see e.g. Grzymala-Busse 2004; Grzymala-Busse and Innes 2003; Hughes 2001).

For example, the EU's main impact on national party systems that Mair (2000) identifies, namely the de-politicising effect of a domestic consensus on integration, which hollows out political competition, is exacerbated in the context of accession and post-communist transition. Innes (2002: 101-102) suggests that the EU 'could have a debilitating effect, arresting party developments by excluding from political competition those substantive, grass-roots, ideological policy conflicts around which western European party systems have evolved'.

Similar criticism has been levelled against the impact of the EU on the development of domestic civil society organisations. The EU's efforts to strengthen environmental NGOs in the CEECs had the adverse effect of undermining them by usurping their agenda and divorcing them from grassroots support and activism (Fagan 2005; Fagan and Jehlička 2002; Fagan and Tickle 2001). Other studies take a less sceptical view and observe that NGOs with strong international links usually combined these with strong local roots (Stark *et al.* 2006, see also Petrova and Tarrow 2007.

Another ambiguous effect of the EU on democratic consolidation in the candidates is the Europeanisation of post-communist parliaments. Chiva (2007) finds a considerable impact on parliament agendas and structures, as well as on the role of European Affairs Committees and legislative output related to the adoption of the *acquis*, especially the greater the proximity of accession. The most problematic impact on parliaments – which has also been observed in the member states - is the strengthening of executives vis-à-vis parliaments (Dimitrova and Pridham 2004; Goetz 2005; Grabbe 2001; Raik 2002; Sadurski 2006). As Sadurski (2006: 7) puts it: 'Enactment of EU-related laws was often fast-tracked, with little or no serious parliamentary discussions, and with the executive controlling the process throughout. This was perhaps no bad thing, given the notorious inefficiency and incompetence of parliamentary institutions in post-communist states, and was arguably the only way to ensure that the enormous body of EU law was transposed into domestic legislation. ... [However], it strengthened the executive bodies over their parliamentary equivalents, a secretive procedure over fully transparent ones, and the quick-fix pace of decisionmaking over comprehensive deliberation. [The goal of accession] gave the executive more power to by-pass parliament and to justify the centralisation of decision-making by the emergency-like circumstances.'

4.3 Policy Impact

The literature finds the greatest impact of the EU in the policy dimension. Most studies confirm that this impact is due to the EU's conditionality and that the incentive of membership – if credible – also trumped domestic costs (Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005a: 215–217; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2006: 8–11). Some more recent studies also emphasise the importance of administrative capacities. Hille and Knill (2006) argue that variation in the pace of legislative alignment with the EU's *acquis communautaire* among the candidate countries did not so much depend on veto players in the legislative process, but on administrative capacities. Toshkov (2008, 2009) finds that both political preferences and government capacity had an effect on the transposition of EU directives in the eight CEECs that joined the EU in 2004.

Administrative capacities have not only figured as a prominent explanatory factor, but – in contrast to member state Europeanisation – as a dependent variable of the EU's policy impact in candidate countries. A novelty in the context of eastern enlargement is that the EU has undertaken considerable efforts to influence administrative practices in candidates, including civil service reforms and anti-corruption. It may well be that the EU 'certainly hastened such reform and gave it a visibility it would not otherwise have achieved as well as providing some legitimation for such change' (Pridham 2005) and there is evidence of considerable changes in formal rules induced by conditionality (Dimitrova 2005). At the same time, the impact was varied and often restricted by post-communist legacies, domestic opposition, the lack of a single EU model of administration, and inconsistent application of conditionality (Ágh 2003; Bossaert and Demmke 2003; Dimitrova 2002, 2005; Hintee *et al.* 2004; Lippert and Umbach 2005; Meyer-Sahling 2004, 2006, 2008, 2009; Pridham 2005: 122–127; Reinholde 2004).

Empirical research in the policy dimension has emerged most prominently in the areas of regional policy (Ágh 2004; Bache 2010; Bruszt 2008; Baun 2002; Brusis 2002, 2005; Fowler 2001; Glenn 2004; Hughes *et al.* 2004; Jacoby 2004; Kettunen and Kungla 2005; Marek and Baun 2002; O'Dwyer 2006; Sturm and Dieringer 2005; Vass 2004), social policy (Cinca 2004; Dimitrova 2005; Draxler and Van Vliet 2010; Guillén and Palier 2004; Leiber 2005; Lendvai 2004, 2008; Sissenich 2005, 2007; Woolfson 2006), and in particular gender equality policy (Anderson 2006; Avdeyeva 2009; Sedelmeier 2009), environmental policy (Andonova 2003, 2005; Carmin and VanDeveer 2004), Justice and Home Affairs (Grabbe 2000, 2005; Lavenex 1999, 2001; Lavenex and Uçarer 2004; Trauner 2009a), and the EU's internal market regulations, even if such studies are often not framed in terms of 'Europeanisation' (see e.g. Appel 2006; Dunn 2003; Mattli and Plümper 2004); but see Prange 2002, 2004). Other analyses have focused on very specific policies that the EU has only enforced in particular candidate countries, such as child protection policy in Romania (Jacoby *et al.* 2009).

These studies largely find that the EU's policy impact has been strong across policy areas and candidate countries. Although individual studies consider different explanatory factors, their findings are broadly compatible with the argument that the EU's policy impact depended on a credible membership incentive. Before the EU spelled out its conditionality, the candidate countries adopted EU rules in some policy areas, but such adjustments were patchy and highly selective. However, once the EU explicitly stated its accession conditions and regularly monitored the alignment of candidate countries, adjustment increased considerably. The EU's impact on the CEECs' alignment with EU policies intensified especially once the EU opened accession negotiations with a candidate country, which served as the most important evidence that the EU's membership incentive was credible.

The area of (macro-)economic policy in the post-communist countries has received much attention in studies of post-communist transformation, but there have been surprisingly few attempts to disentangle the distinctive impact of the EU from 'globalisation' and economic transformation more generally. More recently, the studies of the EU's impact on the political economies of the candidates have become more prominent (Bandelj 2010; Bohle and Greskovits 2007; Cameron 2009; Epstein 2005, 2008a; Gray 2009; Jacoby 2010; Lindstrom and Piroska 2004), in particular with regard to the adjustment efforts involved in joining the EU's Economic and Monetary Union (Andronova Vincelette 2004; Dyson 2006, 2007; Epstein 2005, 2006, 2008a; Epstein and Johnson 2010; Johnson 2006).

Most studies find varied impact in this issue area, despite the very specific conditions for EMU entry. The explanation for this apparent puzzle is that the EU has not insisted on a specific date for EMU membership, which left governments with considerable discretion to respond to different domestic circumstances (see e.g. Dyson 2007; Johnson 2008). In other key issues related to macroeconomic policy, such as central bank independence and the liberalisation of the banking sector, the lack of intra-EU rules and less direct conditionality meant that the influence of the EU – and other international institutions – has relied more on socialisation strategies emphasised in constructivist analyses. Variation in their impact accordingly reflect differences in the extent to which domestic policy failure led post-communist elites to seek outside advice, and the normative consistency of such advice (Epstein 2008a,b).

The finding of a generally strong impact of the EU in the policy dimension does obviously not mean that that domestic adjustment costs and veto players did not matter. Domestic politics did play an important role, in particular in areas where the EU demands were more minimal or lacked credibility. For example, a number of studies have found that evidence of the EU's impact on regionalisation (as opposed to regional policy) is limited (see e.g. Bache 2010; Hughes and Sasse 2004; Hughes et al. 2004). This lack of impact nonetheless fits well with the expectations of rationalist institutionalism. The *acquis* does not prescribe decentralisation and the devolution of powers to the regional level, but merely the establishment of statistical units for the purpose of administrating the allocation of structural funds. Although parts of the Commission initially tried to promote a much more far-reaching interpretation of these conditions, inconsistencies in the Commission's message make the finding that domestic politics was the main determinant of regional policy fully compatible with a rationalist institutionalist perspective. Domestic politics also played an important role when domestic actors used the EU's conditionality instrumentally as a focal point for domestic changes to promote their own priorities (see e.g. Brusis 2005, 2010; Parau 2010). Differences in domestic factors thus account for a continued diversity of outcomes of alignment efforts and for variation in the speed of adjustment across policy areas and accession countries. However, domestic opposition to EU rules rarely effectively prevented the adoption of EU rules that were subject to credible accession conditionality.

Even the cases in which domestic politics appeared more important for particular policy outcomes than the preferences of EU actors, the limitations of the EU's impact in these cases fits well with rationalist institutional explanations. For example, factors limiting the effectiveness of conditionality include inconsistent demands from the Commission – either because some parts of the Commission informally promoted a more maximalist agenda than is underpinned by the *acquis* (see e.g. Hughes *et al.* 2004), or because some actors informally indicated specific areas were less important, such as elements of social policy (Sissenich 2005) or international development policies (Lightfoot 2010).

Furthermore, although rationalist institutionalism emerges as particularly well suited to explaining the general patterns of the EU's policy impact, constructivism is still relevant to explain specific cases. Such cases include the adoption of EU policies without, or prior to, EU adjustment pressures (see e.g. Andonova 2005; Orenstein 2008) or the internalisation of EU rules by actors in the candidate countries even if the policies were initially adopted instrumentally (Grabbe 2005). Moreover, in cases in which social learning provided the main mechanism of policy transfer, these policies were much less prone to domestic contestation (Epstein 2005).

In sum, in view of the starting point of the post-communist countries, the EU did induce a certain extent of convergence; at least if compared to the older member states and especially in

areas where EU rules do not leave much scope for discretion. However, convergence has been far from uniform, and diversity persists, as the EU's impact is differential across policy areas and domestic contexts (see also Bruszt 2002; Zielonka and Mair 2002).

5 Empirical findings II: Europeanisation of new member states after accession

In view of the particular findings of candidate country Europeanisation in the context of the 2004/2007 enlargements, the study of the Europeanisation of new members after accession stands out as an important temporal extension of this research area. After all, it was precisely the concerns about the ability of the central and eastern European candidates to apply the *acquis* after accession has been one key reservation against enlargement and the main motive behind the pervasive pressures for strict and early pre-accession alignment underpinned by conditionality. Furthermore, even in certain areas where the EU's pre-accession influence has been particularly pervasive, some studies have questioned whether this impact remains sustainable after accession. With regard to changes in the polity, doubts have been raised whether an instrumental conversion to democratic principles, in which formal institutions lack popular acceptance, will lead to sustainable democracy without continuous external monitoring (Pop-Eleches 2007a: 150). With regard to policy changes, sustainability might be undermined by incentives to engage only in shallow institutionalisation that is not difficult to reverse after accession (Goetz 2005: 262; Jacoby 1999).

The finding that conditionality – the external incentive of membership – was the key mechanism that led to the adoption of EU rules by the candidates makes the question of post-accession compliance even more salient (Dimitrova and Steunenberg 2004: 180; Dimitrova 2010; Epstein and Sedelmeier 2008; Scherpereel 2006: 143; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2004: 677–679; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005a: 226–227; Sedelmeier 2008): how do the changes in the incentive structure affect behaviour? Can the EU's compliance system – the ultimate threat of financial penalties imposed by the European Court of Justice – compensate for the absence of conditional incentives, i.e. the threat of withholding membership? Are the domestic changes generated by conditionality conducive to sustainable compliance – application and enforcement – after accession? What happens in areas of political conditionality where the powers of EU institutions vis-à-vis full members are limited?

5.1 Post-accession compliance with EU law

Studies of post-accession compliance with EU law broadly focus on one or more of three related questions, each involving specific types of comparisons. The first question concerns the differences between pre- and post-accession compliance in the new member: did compliance deteriorate after a state has achieved accession? The second question concerns the differences between compliance in old and new members: do the new members perform generally worse than the old members? The third question focuses on the variation in post-accession compliance across the new members. Arguably, a combination of all three types of comparisons is necessary to capture the dynamics of post-accession compliance in the new members and to grasp the distinctiveness of conditionality-induced Europeanisation.

The study of post-accession compliance, or post-conditionality compliance, with EU law in the new member states brings the analysis closer to the established literature on EU compliance (for the state of the art, see Börzel *et al.* 2010; Mastenbroek 2005; Treib 2006). Key explanatory factors emphasised in this literature are generally less favourable in the new members than in the old member states, namely low administrative capacities and high adjustment costs (due to postcommunist transition and the lack of influence on EU rules agreed before their accession). In broad terms, compliance in the new members could then be expected to be generally more problematic than in the old member states. Moreover, as suggested above, in view of the importance of the membership incentive for conditionality-driven adjustment, the changing incentive structure after accession post-accession compliance in the new members should be more problematic than preaccession adjustments. However, case studies that provide evidence for the above expectations are in a minority. O'Dwyer and Schwartz indeed find a retrenchment of post-accession Europeanisation of policies to promote non-discrimination on the grounds of sexual orientation in Poland and Latvia (O'Dwyer 2010; O'Dwyer and Schwartz 2010). In these case, the conditions for post-accession compliance were particularly unfavourable: pre-accession conditionality had been used weakly, but also national identity and normative resonance are obstacles to the adoption of EU policy, which made it difficult to compensate for the loss in EU leverage with persuasion strategies.

By contrast, a number of case studies of particular policy areas and broader cross-country comparisons of compliance in the enlarged EU do not find systematic evidence of compliance problems after accession. Comparisons of pre-accession adjustments and post-accession compliance in the new member states do not find much evidence of a deterioration in areas such as state aid policies (Blauberger 2009) and gender equality at the workplace (Sedelmeier 2009). Along similar lines, compliance in the new members does not appear more problematic than in the old member states. In a systematic comparison of the transposition of EU social policy directives in Poland, Leiber (2007) finds that there were no more significant transposition problems than the old member states experienced with the same directives. In Michelsen's (2008) study of organic agriculture regulations of the Common Agricultural Policy does not find that the EU's impact on new members differed from the old members. Steunenberg and Toshkov (2009) show that the new members do not have any greater problems than the old members with the timely transposition of four different EU directives. More generally, descriptive statistics of the Commission's decisions on infringements of EU law suggests that concerns about an 'eastern problem' are vastly exaggerated (Sedelmeier 2008). Most of the new members outperform virtually all of the older member states. Only Poland and the Czech Republic lag somewhat behind, but still perform better than the old members on average. In addition, the study finds a specific behaviour of the new members in the settlement of infringement cases: initial infringements are generally corrected faster, and at an earlier stage of the EU's enforcement procedures than in the old member states.

At the same time, doubts have been raised about the reliability of the data used to establish this positive picture of post-accession compliance. Studies of candidate Europeanisation generally focused most on formal rule adoption, i.e. the legal transposition of the *acquis*, but a key issue for post-accession compliance is the focus on practical implementation on the ground (application and enforcement of legislation, including the application of EU law by national courts (on the latter, see Kühn 2005. A key insight of a detailed qualitative study of the implementation of directives on working time and non-discrimination in Slovenia, Slovakia, the Czech Republic and Hungary, is that there is a gap between the good legislative record and formal transposition, and serious problems with regard to application on the ground (Falkner and Treib 2008; Falkner et al. 2008). Falkner, Treib and their collaborators find that this specific implementation behaviour is, however, not unique for the new member states. Instead, they suggest that such behaviour is in line with a distinctive 'world of compliance' that they observed in a study of the implementation of six social policy directives in the 15 old member states (Falkner et al. 2005). Such a 'world of dead letters' (that they previously classified as a sub-category of a 'world of domestic politics'), in which the transposition processes are politicised, and application and enforcement problems are systematic, even for cases of correct transposition, is also characteristic for Ireland and Italy among the old members.

The findings by Falkner and Treib and their collaborators suggest that a key challenge for further research is to include the enforcement and application of legislation into studies of postaccession compliance (see also Dimitrova 2010, for applications, see Brosig 2010; Krizsan 2009; Maniokas 2009; Trauner 2009b). Moreover, their research suggest the need for more systematic comparisons of implementation in old and new member states across a wider range of policy areas. Such comparisons also are necessary to ascertain whether 'dead letters' is indeed a problem that is specific to the new members, or to specific policy areas (such as gender equality at the workplace) where application and enforcement is notoriously problematic also across member states. If 'dead letters' are indeed characteristic for implementation in the new members, a key question is how this pattern can be explained. Falkner (2010) suggests that the institutional structures of public enforcement are generally deficient in the CEECs as a legacy of communism and economic crisis. Another (complementary) possibility for further research to probe is to what extent such behaviour might be an unintended consequence of the application of pre-accession conditionality. Despite the repeated emphasis of EU institutions on the necessary administrative and judicial structures for the correct application of EU legislation, pre-accession conditionality might have focused primarily on swift and correct legal transposition, which is easier to monitor.

Another key challenge for further research is to explain the apparent absence of a deterioration of post-accession compliance in the new members and their apparently good compliance compared to the old member states. Most of the above studies do not aim to explain the empirical patterns that they observe, and do not investigate whether there is anything specific about postconditionality compliance within the enlarged EU. Sedelmeier (2008) does not test explanations for the surprisingly good performance, but merely suggests that further research should focus on two different legacies of the experience of pre-accession conditionality: the pre-accession institutional investment into administrative and legislative procedures that enable the fast transposition of new legislation, as well as a pre-accession socialisation into process of compliance that makes the new member states that aspire to be respectable member states more susceptible to accepting good compliance as appropriate behaviour. Those studies generate explanations for compliance in the new members or the enlarged EU more generally do not For example, Steunenberg and Toshkov (2009) explain variation in transposition records with legal-administrative factors such as discretion and legal fit, which suggests that there is nothing specific about the new member states. Likewise, the studies comparing pre- and post-accession compliance point at explanatory factors that are not specific to the new members, such as the Commission's enforcement powers (Blauberger 2009) or the absence of high adjustment costs, as well as strong centre-left governments in combination with specialised NGOs (Sedelmeier 2009).

Studies that focus on explanations for the variation in compliance across the new members are important in their own right, but their findings also do not usually lend themselves for an exploration of what – if anything – makes compliance in the new members different from the old members. In the first systematic cross-country analysis of infringements in the new members, Knill and Tosun (2009) identify three main explanatory factors: the extent of trade with the EU, bureaucratic capacity, and the extent of pre-accession alignment. Dimitrova and Toshkov (2009) find that variation in the transposition of two directives across four new members relates strongly to the strength of a specific type of administrative capacity – the mechanisms to coordinate EU affairs – as long as an issue is not highly politicised. A key challenge for studies that want to explore the distinctiveness of post-conditionality compliance is to establish whether such factors more generally explain variation in compliance across old and new members in the enlarged EU. Alternatively, if explanatory factors are specific to the new members, or if their impact on the new members differs from their impact on the old members, the question is why this might be the case.

5.2 Post-accession compliance with political conditionality

The sanctions available to EU institutions to punish infringements of EU law are less powerful than the threat of withholding membership prior to accession, but these still compare very favourably to the leverage of EU institutions with regard to violations of the political conditions for accession (such as democracy, human rights, minority rights). There is still a scarcity of studies that analyse whether the new members continue to comply with the EU's political conditions. Both crossnational studies using quantitative indicators and qualitative case studies show a mixed picture, rather than one of a general backsliding as the EU's leverage recedes. Levitz and Pop-Eleches (2010b, see also 2010a) analyse cross-national statistics and public opinion data, as well as expert interviews and find that there has been at most a slow down, rather than a reversal, of governance reforms after accession. They attribute this result to the new members' dependence on EU aid and trade, the increased transnational linkages with the EU for both elites and citizens, due to greater work and travel opportunities. Vachudová (2009) draws on cross-national statistics that show a rather bleak picture of the fight against corruption in the new members. The situation is particularly worrying in Bulgaria and Romania despite continued post-accession monitoring in these two countries (see also Andreev 2009). She attributes these problems to extended periods of state capture that were facilitated by the lack of political competition during and after the regime changes. Vachudová also finds that party systems show a hardening of nationalist and illiberal positions after accession, but such parties have only made most gains (2008b).

Qualitative case studies, especially with regard to minority rights, also show a mixed empirical record of post-accession compliance. Sasse (2008) finds that Latvia continued to comply with EU conditions by ratifying the Council of Europe's Framework Convention on National Minorities, but she is very critical towards the impact that such formal changes had in practice, even prior to accession (see also Brosig 2010). Pridham (2008b,a, 2009) finds a more diverse pattern in studies of judicial reform, the fight against corruption, and minority rights in Slovakia and Latvia. He suggests that EU political conditionality had a lasting impact when it led to the creation of new institutions and changes of legislation that have largely remained in place after accession. Changes in government do not seem to have affected the continuation of reforms. Pressures for reversals were effective in some issues, such as the abolition of the Civil Service Office in Slovakia. In Latvian, judicial reform and anti-corruption policies continued after accession, while there are some signs of a worsening situation with regard to minority rights and a neglect of commitments undertaken during accession, such as on the use of minority language in the private sector (2009: 78–79). Yet although external pressures are much weaker after accession, Pridham (2008a) argues that peer pressure from the European Parliament had an impact on minority issues in Latvia.

A key challenge for the study of the impact of accession on political reforms promoted through political accession conditionality is to combine broader cross-country comparative analysis with qualitative case studies to demonstrate the causal mechanisms that explain variation. A promising step in this direction is the use of multi-value Qualitative Comparative Analysis by Schwellnus *et al.* (2009) to study five issue areas related to minority rights in four new members. Their preliminary evidence suggests that instances in which minority protection is reversed after accession are very rare, but there is also a marked decline in policy changes that improve the situation of minorities. Such positive changes required very demanding favourable domestic conditions, namely a prominority oriented governments and veto players in combination with small minorities.

6 Europeanisation of candidate countries: conclusions and gaps

Especially the emergence of a number of book-length studies of the EU's impact in Central and Eastern Europe (Andonova 2003; Dimitrova 2004; Grabbe 2006; Hughes et al. 2004; Jacoby 2004; Kelley 2004b; Kubicek 2003a; Linden 2002; Pridham 2005; Schimmelfennig et al. 2006; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005b; Vachudová 2005; Orenstein 2008) has contributed greatly to the emergence of the study of the Europeanisation of applicant states as a distinctive, fairly coherent and increasingly sophisticated research area, which has injected new dynamism into the study of Europeanisation more generally. Especially those studies that explicitly and systematically analyse explanatory factors derived from the debate between rationalist and constructivist institutionalism (Bauer et al. 2007; Jacoby 2004; Kelley 2004b; Kubicek 2003a; Schimmelfennig et al. 2006; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005b), provide a promising theoretical framework for this field of research. These developments suggest that it is indeed possible and fruitful for the research community to think of candidate country Europeanisation as a distinctive sub-field of research. Factors that make the more recent cases of candidate Europeanisation distinctive are not only the particular socio-economic characteristics of the post-communist countries, but also the sustained attempts by the EU to transfer its rules to non-members prior to accession, underpinned by accession conditionality; the top-down, rather than two-way nature of Europeanisation; and the significant power asymmetry between the EU and the targets of Europeanisation (see also Börzel and Sedelmeier 2006; Goetz 2005; Grabbe 2003; Héritier 2005; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005c).

At the same time, this distinctiveness does certainly not mean that candidate Europeanisation should be studied in isolation from broader debates. The insights to be gained from research in this area have been then the most significant precisely when it has been well connected to Europeanisation studies more generally, and to key theoretical debates in the broader disciplines of International Relations and Comparative Politics.

Analyses of the Europeanisation of candidate countries suggest that rationalist institutionalism is well suited to explaining (variation in) the EU's domestic impact and that conditionality is the dominant mechanism of the EU's influence. At the same time, these studies also suggest that it is important to distinguish clearly between 'conditionality' as a strategy used by the EU, and 'conditionality' as an explanatory model or ideal-typical mechanism of EU influence. Conditionality as a strategy is not always effective, but the explanatory model can still successfully explain such cases. To avoid confusion, it might be use to avoid the label 'conditionality model' for the explanatory model, but instead refer to a 'rationalist institutionalist' *approach* or 'external incentives' *model*. This explanatory model holds that conditionality as a strategy is only effective under clearly defined conditions, most importantly, a credible membership perspective as the main reward offered by the EU, and that domestic adjustment costs are not prohibitively high for incumbent governments and do not threaten their power base.

On the one hand, most studies find that the EU's conditionality – as a strategy – has been fairly successful, and generally more successful than (exclusive) normative pressure and socialisation. Yet, many studies also find that there have been limits to the EU's influence through conditionality and that its impact has been differential (Hughes *et al.* 2004; Jacoby 2004; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier 2005c: 2-3).

On the other hand, with regard to theoretical findings, most studies also agree, at least implicitly, that not only the success, but also the limitations of the EU's conditionality – i.e. the conditions that determine its effectiveness – are best explained by a rationalist institutionalist approach. Rationalist institutionalism emphasises conditionality – rather than alternative mechanisms such as socialisation – but crucially also specifies both international and domestic mediating factors. Thus, it explicitly takes into account that 'conditionality' is far from a homogeneous instrument that is applied uniformly across countries and issue areas.

6.1 Comparisons across enlargement rounds

Amid its strong growth, remaining gaps in the literature on the Europeanisation of candidate countries have become clearer. One of the more obvious gaps is the almost exclusive focus on applicants from the eastern enlargement in which the research agenda on candidate country Europeanisation has developed. As the introduction to this review alluded to, the EU's impact on the applicants in this enlargement round has a number of distinctive elements which were particularly conducive to the emergence of a new research programme. Yet even if in previous enlargement rounds some of these elements were not as distinctive (such as the extent of the *acquis*, the use of explicit conditionality, the socio-economic starting conditions of the candidates), more comparative insights are desirable, precisely in order to establish to what extent the conceptual frameworks developed in the context of eastern enlargement allow us to understand candidate country Europeanisation – and the Europeanisation of non-member states – more generally.

6.2 Conceptualising the impact of domestic politics

A conceptual gap that is becoming more evident is – maybe somewhat surprisingly – a better conceptualisation of domestic politics through a clear ex ante specification of the factors through which adjustment costs arise at the domestic level. The existence of such a gap might appear somewhat surprising, given that most of the literature precisely emphasises the importance of the interplay between international and domestic factors. Although the conceptual frameworks that dominate in theoretically informed studies of candidate country Europeanisation are informed by approaches from International Relations, they draw specifically on the subfield that analyses the domestic impact of international institutions. A particular strength of most of these studies is precisely that they stress the importance of domestic politics (see also Scherpereel 2006: 136) as factors that mediate the EU's influence, e.g. through veto players and adoption costs, or normative rule resonance.

Yet there is a certain imbalance in the extent to which the literature currently identifies domestic and international mediating factors. For example, while Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier (2005c) elaborate greatly on international factors that can affect governments' cost/benefit calculations, the category for (rationalist) domestic factors remains a rather undifferentiated 'domestic adoption costs' or 'veto players'. Again, the problem is not that this approach neglects domestic politics. Instead, it is their specification that is problematic: the domestic factors that most of the literature emphasises – veto players, actor density, domestic costs – often remain rather broad and are therefore subject to ad hoc operationalisation. As a result, an inductive analysis of domestic costs is not kept separately from the analysis of outcomes, and hence the impact of costs. A target government's opposition to EU demands is often taken as an indicator of high domestic adjustment costs, without sufficient analysis why these governments perceived EU demands as costly, and how such costs could have been operationalised and assessed prior to the analysis.

Studies of the EU's impact on democracy and political rights have gone furthest towards a better specification of domestic costs by focusing on the orientation of political parties. Distinctions between liberal and illiberal/anti-liberal (and mixed) states or party system constellations (Schimmelfennig 2005; Vachudová 2005), might provide good indicators of governments' adjustment costs arising from the EU's democracy-related political conditions. In particular more detailed analyses of the extent to which liberal vs. strict ethnic policy preferences are represented in parliament (Kelley 2004b). The literature on partial (post-communist) reforms in Comparative Politics (e.g. Hellman 1998) also offers useful indicators for specifying some of the domestic costs for ruling elites of forgoing the benefits of partial reform. Yet, the distinction betweendomestic governmental party constellations still remains somewhat broad, and cannot be used easily as indicators for the EU's impact on socio-economic policies. In that area, comparative politics and comparative political economy can make stronger contributions. For example, Andonova's study (2003) of environmental policy uses the internationalisation of an economic sector as an indicator of interest group preferences and their costs/benefits from harmonisation with EU legislation. Another example are studies of the EU's impact on gender equality at the workplace identify a number of factors that affect the adjustment costs for governments, including the government's partisan orientation, societal mobilisation (for an against women's rights), the strength of women's NGOs, and the adjustment costs for employers as reflected in the gender wage gap (Anderson 2006; Avdeyeva 2009; Sedelmeier 2009).

6.3 Europeanisation without a credible EU membership perspective

Another finding of the analysis of applicant state Europeanisation is particularly relevant for the study of the EU's use of conditionality and softer instruments of influence in countries that do not have a credible accession perspective. A key factor that determined the effectiveness of conditionality is a credible accession perspective. Membership is the most sizeable reward and incentive that the EU can offer, but to be effective, it needs to be credible. This finding raises the question of the EU's ability to influence developments in the current candidate countries (with the exception of Iceland) as effectively as in the case of the ECE (see also Epstein and Sedelmeier 2008: 799; Schimmelfennig 2008). Although these countries have in principle a membership perspective, either the opposition inside the EU to enlargement more generally, or towards particular countries more specifically, have greatly reduced its credibility. The problem of credibility is particularly salient in Turkey, but also in the current candidates in the Western Balkans where the membership prospect is also more distant than it was in the ECE. In addition, in these countries the domestic costs of complying with EU conditionality are also often very high, as they touch on sensitive questions of statehood and national identity (see e.g. Freyburg and Richter 2010; Subotić 2010). and low state capacity and lower levels of economic development make accession a more distance prospect. The specific nature of the EU's political conditions also makes it easier for nationalist politicians for which they create adjustment costs, to challenge their legitimacy (Noutcheva 2009). In view of these generally unfavourable conditions, more limited Europeanisation effects could be therefore expected in these countries. Effects on the national polity are particularly difficult, while policy impact might be possible, especially in areas where the EU can offer highly valued issue-specific rewards – such as visa facilitation – even in the absence of membership (see e.g. Trauner 2009a).

The conditions are even less favourable in non-member states for which the EU has explicitly ruled out membership, at least for the foreseeable future, although they are at least in principle eligible to apply for membership as European countries – specifically the former Soviet republics that are part of the 'Eastern Partnership' (Kelley 2006; Smith 2005; Sedelmeier 2007). What this means for the ability of the EU to influence domestic politics in these countries is a key question for studies of 'Europeanisation beyond the EU' (Lavenex and Schimmelfennig 2009; Schimmelfennig 2009).

7 Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Naz Masraff for her research assistance for this update of the review, and I am grateful for helpful comments from Milada Vachudová, two anonymous referees, and the LREG editorial board. I am also grateful for financial support through a Marie Curie Fellowship at the Robert Schuman Centre for Advanced Studies of the European University Institute (Project No.: MEIF-CT-2004-n514104).

References

- Ágh, Attila, 2002, "The dual challenge and the reform of the Hungarian socialist party", Communist and Post-Communist Studies, 35(3): 269–288, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Agh, Attila, 2003, Anticipative and Adaptive Europeanization in Hungary, Hungarian Centre for Democracy Studies, Budapest. (Cited on page 22.)
- Agh, Attila (Ed.), 2004, Europeanization and Regionalization: Hungary's Accession, Hungarian Centre for Democracy Studies, Budapest. (Cited on page 22.)
- Albi, Anneli, 2005, EU Enlargement and the Constitutions of Central and Eastern Europe, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge; New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on page 18.)
- Anderson, Leah Seppanen, 2006, "European Union Gender Regulations in the East: The Czech and Polish Accession Process", *East European Politics and Societies*, 20(1): 101–125, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 22 and 31.)
- Andonova, Liliana B., 2003, Transnational Politics of the Environment: The European Union and Environmental Policy in Central and Eastern Europe, MIT Press, Cambridge, MA. [Google Books]. (Cited on pages 9, 15, 22, 29, and 31.)
- Andonova, Liliana B., 2005, "The Europeanization of Environmental Policy in Central and Eastern Europe", in *The Europeanization of Central and Eastern Europe*, (Eds.) Schimmelfennig, Frank, Sedelmeier, Ulrich, pp. 135–155, Cornell University Press, Ithaca, NY. [Google Books]. (Cited on pages 22 and 23.)
- Andreev, Svetlozar A., 2009, "The unbearable lightness of membership: Bulgaria and Romania after the 2007 EU accession", *Communist and Post-Communist Studies*, 42(3): 375–393, [DOI]. (Cited on page 28.)
- Andronova Vincelette, Galina, 2004, "Challenges to Bulgarian monetary policy on its way to United Europe", in Driven to Change: The European Union's Enlargement Viewed from the East, (Ed.) Dimitrova, Antoaneta L., pp. 98–111, Manchester University Press, Manchester; New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on page 23.)
- Appel, Hilary B., 2006, "International Imperatives and Tax Reform: Lesson from Postcommunist Europe", *Comparative Politics*, 39(1): 43–62, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Armingeon, Klaus and Careja, Romana, 2008, "Institutional change and stability in postcommunist countries, 1990–2002", European Journal of Political Research, 47(4): 436–466, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 18 and 20.)
- Avdeyeva, Olga, 2009, "Enlarging the Club: When Do Candidate States Enforce Gender Equality Laws?", Comparative European Politics, 7(1): 158–177, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 22 and 31.)
- Bache, Ian, 2010, "Europeanization and multi-level governance: EU cohesion policy and preaccession aid in Southeast Europe", *Southeast European and Black Sea Studies*, 10(1): 1–12, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 22 and 23.)
- Bandelj, Nina, 2010, "How EU Integration and Legacies Mattered for Foreign Direct Investment into Central and Eastern Europe", *Europe-Asia Studies*, 62(3): 481–501, [DOI]. (Cited on page 23.)

- Batory, Agnes, 2008, The Politics of EU Accession: Ideology, Party Strategy and the European Question in Hungary, Manchester University Press; Palgrave, Manchester; New York. (Cited on page 20.)
- Batory, Agnes and Sitter, Nick, 2004, "Cleavages, competition and coalition-building: Agrarian parties and the European question in Western and East Central Europe", European Journal of Political Research, 43(4): 523–546, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Bauer, Michael W., Knill, Christoph and Pitschel, Diana, 2007, "Differential Europeanization in Eastern Europe: The Impact of Diverse EU Regulatory Governance Patterns", *Journal of European Integration*, 29(4): 405–423, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 6, 10, 11, 17, and 29.)
- Baun, Michael, 2002, "EU Regional Policy and the Candidate States: Poland and the Czech Republic", Journal of European Integration, 24(3): 261–280, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Baun, Michael, Dürr, Jakub, Marek, Dan and Šaradín, Pavel, 2006, "The Europeanization of Czech Politics: The Political Parties and the EU Referendum", *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 44(2): 249–280. (Cited on page 20.)
- Blauberger, Michael, 2009, "Compliance with rules of negative integration: European state aid control in the new member states", *Journal of European Public Policy*, 16(7): 1030–1046, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 26 and 27.)
- Bohle, Dorothee and Greskovits, Béla, 2007, "Neoliberalism, embedded neoliberalism and neocorporatism: Towards transnational capitalism in Central-Eastern Europe", West European Politics, 30(3): 443–466, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 17 and 23.)
- Börzel, Tanja A., 2005, "Europeanization: How the European Union Interacts with its Member States", in *The Member States of the European Union*, (Eds.) Bulmer, Simon, Lequesne, Christian, pp. 45–76, Oxford University Press, Oxford; New York. (Cited on pages 5, 9, and 11.)
- Börzel, Tanja A., 2010, "Why You Don't Always Get What You Want: EU Enlargement and Civil Society in Central and Eastern Europe", Acta Politica, 45(1-2): 1–10, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 15 and 20.)
- Börzel, Tanja A. and Buzogány, Aron, 2010a, "Environmental Organisations and the Europeanisation of Public Policy in Central and Eastern Europe: The Case of Biodiversity Governance", *Environmental Politics*, 19(5): 708–35, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Börzel, Tanja A. and Buzogány, Aron, 2010b, "Governing EU accession in transition countries: The role of non-state actors", Acta Politica, 45(1-2): 158–182, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 15 and 20.)
- Börzel, Tanja A. and Risse, Thomas, 2003, "Conceptualising the Domestic Impact of Europe", in *The Politics of Europeanization*, (Eds.) Featherstone, Kevin, Radaelli, Claudio M., pp. 55–78, Oxford University Press, Oxford; New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on pages 5, 7, 9, and 11.)
- Börzel, Tanja A. and Risse, Thomas, 2007, "Europeanization: The Domestic Impact of EU Politics", in *Handbook of European Union Politics*, (Eds.) Jørgensen, Knud Erik, Pollack, Mark A., Rosamond, Ben J., pp. 482–504, Sage, London. (Cited on pages 5, 9, and 17.)
- Börzel, Tanja A. and Sedelmeier, Ulrich, 2006, "The EU Dimension in European Politics", in Developments in European Politics, (Eds.) Heywood, Paul M., Jones, Erik, Rhodes, Martin, Sedelmeier, Ulrich, pp. 54–70, Palgrave Macmillan, Basingstoke; New York. (Cited on pages 17 and 29.)

- Börzel, Tanja A., Hofmann, Tobias, Panke, Diana and Sprungk, Carina, 2010, "Obstinate and Inefficient: Why Member States Do Not Comply with European Law", *Comparative Political Studies*, 43(11): 1363–1390, [DOI]. (Cited on page 25.)
- Bossaert, Danielle and Demmke, Christoph, 2003, Civil Services in the Accession States: New Trends and the Impact of the Integration Process, European Institute of Public Administration, Maastricht. (Cited on page 22.)
- Brosig, Malte, 2010, "The Challenge of Implementing Minority Rights in Central Eastern Europe", *Journal of European Integration*, 32(4): 393–411, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 16, 18, 26, and 28.)
- Brusis, Martin, 2002, "Between EU Requirements, Competitive Politics, and National Traditions: Re-creating Regions in the Accession Countries of Central and Eastern Europe", *Governance*, 15(4): 531–559, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Brusis, Martin, 2005, "The Instrumental Use of European Union Conditionality: Regionalization in the Czech Republic and Slovakia", *East European Politics and Societies*, 19(2): 291–316. (Cited on pages 10, 22, and 23.)
- Brusis, Martin, 2010, "European Union Incentives and Regional Interest Representation in Central and East European Countries", *Acta Politica*, 45(1-2): 70–89, [DOI]. (Cited on page 23.)
- Bruszt, László, 2002, "Making Markets and Eastern Enlargement: Diverging Convergence?", West European Politics, 25(2): 121–140, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 17 and 24.)
- Bruszt, László, 2008, "Multi-Level Governance the Eastern Versions: Emerging Patterns of Regional Development Governance in the New Member States", *Regional and Federal Studies*, 18(5): 607–627, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Cameron, David R., 2009, "Creating Market Economies after Communism: The Impact of the European Union", *Post-Soviet Affairs*, 25(1): 1–38. (Cited on page 23.)
- Carmin, JoAnn and Fagan, Adam, 2010, "Environmental mobilisation and organisations in postsocialist Europe and the former Soviet Union", *Environmental Politics*, 19(5): 689–707, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Carmin, JoAnn and VanDeveer, Stacy D. (Eds.), 2004, EU Enlargement and the Environment: Institutional Change and Environmental Policy in Central and Eastern Europe, vol. 13 of Environmental Politics (Special Issue), Frank Cass, Portland, OR. (Cited on page 22.)
- Chiva, Cristina, 2007, "The Institutionalisation of Post-Communist Parliaments: Hungary and Romania in Comparative Perspective", *Parliamentary Affairs*, 60(2): 187–211, [DOI]. (Cited on page 21.)
- Cinca, Oana, 2004, Europeanisation of Working Time in Romania, Master's Thesis, Leiden University, Leiden. (Cited on page 22.)
- Cini, Michelle, 2000, "The Europeanization of Malta: Adaptation, Identity and Party Politics", South European Society and Politics, 5(2): 261–276, [DOI]. (Cited on page 8.)
- Cini, Michelle, 2004, "Culture, institutions and campaign effects: explaining the outcome of Malta's EU accession referendum", West European Politics, 27(4): 584–602, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Cirtautas, Arista Maria and Schimmelfennig, Frank, 2010, "Europeanisation before and after Accession: Conditionality, Legacies and Compliance", *Europe-Asia Studies*, 62(3): 421–441, [DOI]. (Cited on page 15.)

- Cooley, Alexander, 2003, "Western Conditions and Domestic Choices: The Influence of External Actors on the Post-Communist Transition", in *Nations in Transit 2003: Democratization in East Central Europe and Eurasia*, pp. 25–38, Freedom House; Rowman & Littlefield, Lanham, MD. (Cited on page 17.)
- Cowles, Maria Green, Caporaso, James A. and Risse, Thomas (Eds.), 2001, Transforming Europe: Europeanization and Domestic Change, Cornell University Press, Ithaca, NY. (Cited on pages 5, 9, and 11.)
- Dakowska, Dorota, 2002, "Beyond Conditionality: EU Enlargement, European Party Federations and the Transnational Activity of German Political Foundations", *Perspectives on European Politics and Society*, 3(2): 271–296, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Diez, Thomas, Agnantopoulos, Apostolos and Kaliber, Alper, 2005, "File: Turkey, Europeanization and Civil Society", South European Society and Politics, 10(1): 1–15, [DOI]. (Cited on page 8.)
- Dimitrova, Antoaneta L., 2002, "Enlargement, Institution-Building and the EU's Administrative Capacity Requirement", West European Politics, 25(4): 171–190, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Dimitrova, Antoaneta L. (Ed.), 2004, Driven to Change: The European Union's Enlargement Viewed from the East, Manchester University Press, Manchester; New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on pages 11 and 29.)
- Dimitrova, Antoaneta L., 2005, "Europeanization and Civil Service Reform in Central and Eastern Europe", in *The Europeanization of Central and Eastern Europe*, (Eds.) Schimmelfennig, Frank, Sedelmeier, Ulrich, pp. 71–90, Cornell University Press, Ithaca, NY. [Google Books]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Dimitrova, Antoaneta L., 2010, "The New Member States of the EU in the Aftermath of Enlargement: Do New European Rules Remain Empty Shells?", Journal of European Public Policy, 17 (1): 137–148, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 15, 25, and 26.)
- Dimitrova, Antoaneta L. and Pridham, G., 2004, "International Actors and Democracy Promotion in Central and Eastern Europe: The Integration Model and Its Limits", *Democratization*, 11(5). (Cited on pages 18 and 21.)
- Dimitrova, Antoaneta L. and Rhinard, M., 2005, "The Power of Norms in the Transposition of EU Directives", European Integration online Papers, 9(16), [DOI]. URL (accessed 25 January 2011): http://eiop.or.at/eiop/texte/2005-016a.htm. (Cited on page 16.)
- Dimitrova, Antoaneta L. and Steunenberg, Bernard, 2004, "Conclusions: the 'end of history' of enlargement or the beginning of a new research agenda?", in *Driven to Change: The European Union's Enlargement Viewed from the East*, (Ed.) Dimitrova, Antoaneta L., pp. 179–193, Manchester University Press, Manchester; New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on page 25.)
- Dimitrova, Antoaneta L. and Steunenberg, Bernard, 2007, "Compliance in the EU enlargement process: The limits of conditionality", *European Integration online Papers*, 11(5). URL (accessed 25 January 2011):

http://eiop.or.at/eiop/texte/2007-005a.htm. (Cited on pages 12 and 14.)

Dimitrova, Antoaneta L. and Toshkov, Dimiter, 2007, "The Dynamics of Domestic Coordination of EU Policy in the New Member States: Impossible to Lock In?", West European Politics, 30 (5): 961–986, [DOI]. (Cited on page 19.) Dimitrova, Antoaneta L. and Toshkov, Dimiter, 2009, "Post-accession compliance between administrative co-ordination and political bargaining", *European Integration online Papers*, 13(2), 19. URL (accessed 25 January 2011):

http://eiop.or.at/eiop/texte/2009-019a.htm. (Cited on page 27.)

- Draxler, J. and Van Vliet, O., 2010, "European Social Model: No Convergence from the East", *Journal of European Integration*, 32(1): 115–135, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Dunn, Elizabeth C., 2003, "Trojan pig: paradoxes of food safety regulation", Environment and Planning A, 35(8): 1493–1511, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Dyson, Kenneth (Ed.), 2006, Enlarging the Euro Area: External Empowerment and Domestic Transformation in East Central Europe, Oxford University Press, Oxford; New York. (Cited on page 23.)
- Dyson, Kenneth, 2007, "Euro Area Entry in East-Central Europe: Paradoxical Europeanisation and Clustered Convergence", West European Politics, 30(3): 417–442, [DOI]. (Cited on page 23.)
- Ekiert, Grzegorz, Kubik, Jan and Vachudová, Milada A., 2007, "Democracy in the Post-Communist World: An Unending Quest?", *East European Politics and Societies*, 21(1): 7–30, [DOI]. (Cited on page 18.)
- Engert, Stefan, 2010, *EU Enlargement and Socialization: Turkey and Cyprus*, Routledge, London. (Cited on page 8.)
- Enyedi, Zsolt and Lewis, Paul G., 2007, "The Impact of the European Union on Party Politics in Central and Eastern Europe", in *The European Union and Party Politics in Central and Eastern Europe*, (Eds.) Lewis, Paul G., Mansfeldová, Zdenka, pp. 231–249, Palgrave, Baskingstoke. (Cited on page 20.)
- Epstein, Rachel A., 2005, "Diverging Effects of Social Learning and External Incentives in Polish Central Banking and Agriculture", in *The Europeanization of Central and Eastern Europe*, (Eds.) Schimmelfennig, Frank, Sedelmeier, Ulrich, pp. 178–198, Cornell University Press, Ithaca, NY. [Google Books]. (Cited on pages 11 and 23.)
- Epstein, Rachel A., 2006, "Cultivating Consensus and Creating Conflict: International Institutions and the (De)Politicization of Economic Policy in Postcommunist Europe", *Comparative Political Studies*, 39(8): 1019–1042, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 11, 16, and 23.)
- Epstein, Rachel A., 2008a, In Pursuit of Liberalism: International Institutions in Postcommunist Europe, Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, MD. (Cited on pages 11, 16, and 23.)
- Epstein, Rachel A., 2008b, "The social context in conditionality: internationalizing finance in postcommunist Europe", *Journal of European Public Policy*, 15(6): 880–898, [DOI]. (Cited on page 23.)
- Epstein, Rachel A. and Johnson, Juliet, 2010, "Uneven Integration: Economic and Monetary Union in Central and Eastern Europe", *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 48(5): 1237–1260, [DOI]. (Cited on page 23.)
- Epstein, Rachel A. and Sedelmeier, Ulrich, 2008, "Beyond conditionality: international institutions in postcommunist Europe after enlargement", *Journal of European Public Policy*, 15(6): 795– 805, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 7, 25, and 31.)

- Fagan, Adam, 2005, "Taking Stock of Civil-Society Development in Post-communist Europe: Evidence from the Czech Republic", *Democratization*, 12(4): 528–547, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 20 and 21.)
- Fagan, Adam, 2010, "The New Kids on the Block Building Environmental Governance in the Western Balkans", Acta Politica, 45(1–2): 203–28, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Fagan, Adam and Jehlička, Petr, 2002, "The Impact of EU Accession on the Czech Environmental Movement: Empowerment or Depoliticisation?", ECPR joint session of workshops, Turin, 22–27 March 2002, conference paper. (Cited on page 21.)
- Fagan, Adam and Tickle, Andrew, 2001, "Globalisation and the building of civil society in Central and Eastern Europe: Environmental mobilisations as a case study", ECPR General conference, Canterbury, 6–8 September 2001, Canterbury, conference paper. (Cited on page 21.)
- Falkner, Gerda, 2000, "How pervasive are euro-policies? Effects of EU membership on a new member state", Journal of Common Market Studies, 38(2): 223–250. (Cited on page 7.)
- Falkner, Gerda, 2001, "The Europeanisation of Austria: Misfit, Adaptation and Controversies", *European Integration online Papers*, 5, 13. URL (accessed 1 November 2006): http://eiop.or.at/eiop/texte/2001-013a.htm. (Cited on page 7.)
- Falkner, Gerda, 2003, "Comparing Europeanisation Effects: From Metaphor to Operationalisation", European Integration online Papers, 7, 13. URL (accessed 1 November 2006): http://eiop.or.at/eiop/texte/2003-013a.htm. (Cited on pages 5 and 9.)
- Falkner, Gerda, 2010, "Institutional Performance and Compliance with EU Law: Czech Republic, Hungary, Slovakia and Slovenia", Journal of Public Policy, 30(1): 101–116, [DOI]. (Cited on page 27.)
- Falkner, Gerda and Treib, Oliver, 2008, "Three Worlds of Compliance or Four? The EU-15 Compared to New Member States", Journal of Common Market Studies, 46(2): 293–313, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 10 and 26.)
- Falkner, Gerda, Treib, Oliver, Hartlapp, Miriam and Leiber, Simone, 2005, Complying with Europe: EU Harmonisation and Soft Law in the Member States, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge; New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on page 26.)
- Falkner, Gerda, Treib, Oliver and Holzleithner, Elisabeth, 2008, Compliance in the Enlarged European Union: Living Rights or Dead Letters?, Ashgate, Aldershot. [Google Books]. (Cited on page 26.)
- Featherstone, Kevin, 2001, "Cyprus and the Onset of Europeanization: Strategic Usage, Structural Transformation and Institutional Adaptation", in *Europeanization and the Southern Periphery*, (Eds.) Featherstone, Kevin, Kazamias, George A., pp. 141–162, Routledge, London. [Google Books]. (Cited on page 8.)
- Featherstone, Kevin and Radaelli, Claudio M. (Eds.), 2003, The Politics of Europeanization, Oxford University Press, Oxford; New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on pages 5 and 9.)
- Fink-Hafner, Danica, 2005, "Europeanization of the Core Executive in the Transition from Circumstances of EU Accession to Full EU Membership", 9th Biennial EUSA Conference, Austin, TX, 31 March-2 April 2005, conference paper. Online version (accessed 2 November 2006): http://aei.pitt.edu/3041/. (Cited on page 19.)

- Fink-Hafner, Danica, 2007, "Europeanization in Managing EU Affairs: Between Divergence and Convergence, a Comparative Study of Estonia, Hungary and Slovenia", *Public Administration*, 85(3): 805–28, [DOI]. (Cited on page 19.)
- Fink-Hafner, Danica, 2008, "Europeanization and Party System Mechanics: Comparing Croatia, Serbia and Montenegro", Journal of Southern Europe and the Balkans, 10(2): 167–181, [DOI]. (Cited on page 21.)
- Forest, Maxime, 2006, "Emerging gender interest groups in the new member states: The case of the Czech Republic", *Perspectives on European Politics and Society*, 7(2): 170–183, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Fowler, Brigid, 2001, "Debating Sub-state Reform on Hungary's 'Road to Europe", Working Papers, 21/01, Sussex European Institute, Brighton. (Cited on page 22.)
- Fowler, Brigid, 2004, "Hungary: Unpicking the permissive consensus", West European Politics, 27 (4): 624–651, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Freyburg, Tina and Richter, Solveig, 2010, "National Identity Matters: The Limited Impact of EU Political Conditionality in the Western Balkans", *Journal of European Public Policy*, 17(2): 263–281, [DOI]. (Cited on page 31.)
- Freyburg, Tina, Lavenex, Sandra, Schimmelfennig, Frank, Skripka, Tatiana and Wetzel, Anne, 2009, "EU Promotion of Democratic Governance in the Neighbourhood", *Journal of European Public Policy*, 16(6): 916–934, [DOI]. (Cited on page 15.)
- Glenn, John K., 2004, "From Nation-States to Member States: Accession Negotiations as an Instrument of Europeanization", *Comparative European Politics*, 2(1): 3–28, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Goetz, Klaus H., 2001, "Making sense of post-communist central administration: modernization, Europeanization or Latinization?", Journal of European Public Policy, 8(6): 1032–1051, [DOI]. (Cited on page 19.)
- Goetz, Klaus H., 2002, "Europeanisation in West and East: A Challenge to Institutional Theory", 1st Pan-European Conference on EU Politics, Bordeaux, 26–28 September 2002, conference paper. (Cited on page 11.)
- Goetz, Klaus H., 2005, "The New Member States and the EU: Responding to Europe", in *The Member States of the European Union*, (Eds.) Bulmer, Simon, Lequesne, Christian, pp. 254–284, Oxford University Press, Oxford; New York. (Cited on pages 10, 17, 19, 21, 25, and 29.)
- Goetz, Klaus H. and Wollmann, Hellmut, 2001, "Governmentalizing central executives in postcommunist Europe: a four-country comparison", *Journal of European Public Policy*, 8(6): 864– 887, [DOI]. (Cited on page 17.)
- Grabbe, Heather, 2000, "The Sharp Edges of Europe: Extending Schengen Eastwards", *International Affairs*, 76(3): 519–536, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Grabbe, Heather, 2001, "How does Europeanization affect CEE governance? Conditionality, diffusion and diversity", *Journal of European Public Policy*, 8(6): 1013–1031, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 6, 10, and 21.)

- Grabbe, Heather, 2003, "Europeanization goes East: Power and Uncertainty in the EU Accession Process", in *The Politics of Europeanization*, (Eds.) Featherstone, Kevin, Radaelli, Claudio M., pp. 303–327, Oxford University Press, Oxford; New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on pages 10, 12, 14, 16, 17, and 29.)
- Grabbe, Heather, 2005, "Regulating the Flow of People across Europe", in *The Europeanization of Central and Eastern Europe*, (Eds.) Schimmelfennig, Frank, Sedelmeier, Ulrich, pp. 112–134, Cornell University Press, Ithaca, NY. [Google Books]. (Cited on pages 12, 22, and 23.)
- Grabbe, Heather, 2006, The EU's Transformative Power: Europeanization through Conditionality in Central and Eastern Europe, Palgrave Macmillan, Basingstoke; New York. (Cited on pages 6, 10, 11, and 29.)
- Gray, Julia, 2009, "International Organization as a Seal of Approval: European Union Accession and Investor Risk", *American Journal of Political Science*, 53(4): 931–949, [DOI]. (Cited on page 23.)
- Grigorescu, Alexandru, 2002, "European Institutions and Unsuccessful Norm Transmission: The Case of Transparency", *International Politics*, 39: 467–489, [DOI]. (Cited on page 16.)
- Grzymala-Busse, Anna M., 2004, "The New Dysfunctionalism? Paradoxes of EU Enlargement and the Postcommunist Candidate Countries", Conference of Europeanists, Chicago, 11–14 March 2004, conference paper. (Cited on page 21.)
- Grzymala-Busse, Anna M. and Innes, Abby, 2003, "Great expectations: The EU and domestic political competition in East Central Europe", *East European Politics and Societies*, 17(1): 64– 73. (Cited on page 21.)
- Guillén, Ana M. and Palier, Bruno (Eds.), 2004, Special Issue on 'EU Accession, Europeanisation and Social Policy', vol. 14 of Journal of European Social Policy, SAGE, Thousand Oaks, CA; London. (Cited on page 22.)
- Hanley, Sean, 2004, "A nation of sceptics? The Czech EU accession referendum of 13–14 June 2003", West European Politics, 27(4): 691–715, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Haughton, Tim, 2007, "When Does the EU Make a Difference? Conditionality and the Accession Process in Central and Eastern Europe", *Political Studies Review*, 5(2): 233–246, [DOI]. (Cited on page 12.)
- Hellman, Joel S., 1998, "Winners Take All: The Politics of Partial Reform in Postcommunist Transitions", World Politics, 50(2): 203–234. (Cited on page 30.)
- Henderson, Karen, 2004, "EU accession and the new Slovak consensus", West European Politics, 27(4): 652–670, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Henderson, Karen, 2005, "EU Influence on Party Politics in Slovakia", 9th Biennial EUSA Conference, Austin, TX, 31 March-2 April 2005, conference paper. Online version (accessed 2 November 2006):

http://aei.pitt.edu/3201/. (Cited on page 20.)

Heper, Metin, 2005, "The European Union, the Turkish Military and Democracy", South European Society and Politics, 10(1): 33–44, [DOI]. (Cited on page 8.)

- Héritier, Adrienne, 2005, "Europeanization Research East and West: A Comparative Assessment", in *The Europeanization of Central and Eastern Europe*, (Eds.) Schimmelfennig, Frank, Sedelmeier, Ulrich, pp. 199–209, Cornell University Press, Ithaca, NY. [Google Books]. (Cited on pages 17 and 29.)
- Héritier, Adrienne, Kerwer, Dieter, Knill, Christoph, Lehmkuhl, Dirk, Teutsch, Michael and Douillet, Anne-Cécile, 2001, Differential Europe: The European Union Impact on National Policymaking, Rowman & Littlefield, Lanham, MD. [Google Books]. (Cited on page 9.)
- Hille, Peter and Knill, Christoph, 2006, "'It's the Bureaucracy, Stupid': The Implementation of the Acquis Communautaire in EU Candidate Countries, 1999–2003", European Union Politics, 7(4): 531–552, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 15 and 22.)
- Hinţea, Călin, Şandor, Sorin Dan and Junjan, Veronica, 2004, "Administrative Reform in Romania and the European Union", in Driven to Change: The European Union's Enlargement Viewed from the East, (Ed.) Dimitrova, Antoaneta L., pp. 145–162, Manchester University Press, Manchester; New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Hooghe, Liesbet and Vachudová, Milada A., 2009, "Postcommunist politics in a magnetic field: How transition and EU accession structure party competition on European integration", Comparative European Politics, 7(2): 179–212, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Hughes, James, 2001, "EU Enlargement Conditionality as Coercive Europeanization", European Forum, Robert Schuman Centre for Advanced Studies, European University Institute, 13 December 2001, conference paper. (Cited on page 21.)
- Hughes, James and Sasse, Gwendolyn, 2003, "Monitoring the Monitors: EU Enlargement Conditionality and Minority Protection in the CEECs", *Journal on Ethnopolitics and Minority Issues in Europe*, (1): 1–37. URL (accessed 11 February 2011): http://www.ecmi.de/publications/detail/issue-12003-62/. (Cited on page 18.)
- Hughes, James and Sasse, Gwendolyn, 2004, "Conditionality and Compliance in the EU's Eastward Enlargement: Regional Policy and the Reform of Sub-national Government", Journal of Common Market Studies, 42(3): 523–551, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 10 and 23.)
- Hughes, James, Sasse, Gwendolyn and Gordon, Claire, 2004, Europeanization and Regionalization in the EU's Enlargement to Central and Eastern Europe: The Myth of Conditionality, Palgrave Macmillan, Basingstoke; New York. (Cited on pages 6, 10, 12, 15, 22, 23, and 29.)
- Iankova, Elena A., 2009, Business, Government, and EU Accession: Strategic Partnership and Conflict, Lexington Books, Lanham, MD. (Cited on page 20.)
- Innes, Abby, 2002, "Party Competition in Postcommunist Europe: The Great Electoral Lottery", Comparative Politics, 35(1): 85–104, [DOI]. (Cited on page 21.)
- Jacoby, Wade, 1999, "Priest and Penitent: The European Union as a Force in the Domestic Politics of Eastern Europe", *East European Constitutional Review*, 8(1–2): 62–67. (Cited on pages 10 and 25.)
- Jacoby, Wade, 2004, The Enlargement of the European Union and NATO: Ordering from the Menu in Central Europe, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge; New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on pages 7, 9, 10, 11, 12, 15, 22, and 29.)
- Jacoby, Wade, 2006, "Inspiration, Coalition, and Substitution: External Influences on Postcommunist Transformations", World Politics, 58(4): 623–651, [DOI]. (Cited on page 14.)

- Jacoby, Wade, 2010, "Managing Globalization by Managing Central and Eastern Europe: The EU's Backyard as Threat and Opportunity", Journal of European Public Policy, 17(3): 416– 432, [DOI]. (Cited on page 23.)
- Jacoby, Wade, Lataianu, G. and Lataianu, C.M., 2009, "Success in Slow Motion: The Europeanization of Romanian Child Protection Policy", *Review of International Organizations*, 4(2): 111–133. (Cited on page 22.)
- Johnson, Juliet, 2006, "Two-track diffusion and central bank embeddedness: the politics of Euro adoption in Hungary and the Czech Republic", *Review of International Political Economy*, 13 (3): 361–386, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 11, 16, and 23.)
- Johnson, Juliet, 2008, "The Remains of Conditionality: The Faltering Enlargement of the Euro Zone", Journal of European Public Policy, 15(6): 826–841, [DOI]. (Cited on page 23.)
- Jones, Rachel, 2000, Beyond the Spanish State: Central Government, Domestic Actors and the EU, Palgrave, Basingstoke; New York. (Cited on page 19.)
- Kelley, Judith G., 2004a, "International Actors on the Domestic Scene: Membership Conditionality and Socialization by International Institutions", *International Organization*, 3(58): 425–457, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 10, 11, and 18.)
- Kelley, Judith G., 2004b, Ethnic Politics in Europe: The Power of Norms and Incentives, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ. [Google Books]. (Cited on pages 7, 9, 10, 11, 15, 17, 18, 29, and 30.)
- Kelley, Judith G., 2006, "New Wine in Old Wineskins: Promoting Political Reforms through the New European Neighbourhood Policy", *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 44(1): 29–55. (Cited on page 31.)
- Kettunen, Pekka and Kungla, Tarvo, 2005, "Europeanization of sub-national governance in unitary states: Estonia and Finland", *Regional and Federal Studies*, 15(3): 353–378, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Knack, Stephen, 2004, "Does Foreign Aid Promote Democracy?", International Studies Quarterly, 48(1): 251–266, [DOI]. (Cited on page 17.)
- Knill, Christoph and Lehmkuhl, Dirk, 2002, "The National Impact of European Union Regulatory Policy: Three Europeanization Mechanisms", *European Journal of Political Research*, 41(2): 255–280, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 9 and 11.)
- Knill, Christoph and Tosun, Jale, 2009, "Post-accession transposition of EU law in the new member states: a cross-country comparison", *European Integration online Papers*, 13(2), [DOI]. URL (accessed 25 January 2011):

http://eiop.or.at/eiop/texte/2009-018a.htm. (Cited on page 27.)

- Kopecký, Petr and Mudde, Cas, 2002, "The Two Sides of Euroscepticism: Party Positions on European Integration in East Central Europe", European Union Politics, 3(3): 297–326, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Kopstein, J. and Reilly, D., 2000, "Geographical Diffusion and the Transformation of the Postcommunist World", World Politics, 53(1): 1–37. (Cited on page 14.)
- Krašovec, A. and Lajh, Damjan, 2008, "Have Democratization Processes Been a Catalyst for the Europeanization of Party Politics in Slovenia?", Journal of Southern Europe and the Balkans, 10(2): 183–203. (Cited on page 21.)

- Krašovec, Alenka and Lajh, Damjan, 2004, "The Slovenian EU Accession Referendum: A Catand-Mouse Game", West European Politics, 27(4): 603–623. (Cited on page 20.)
- Krizsan, Andrea, 2009, "From Formal Adoption to Enforcement. Post-Accession Shifts in EU Impact on Hungary in the Equality Policy Field", *European Integration online Papers*, 13(Special Issue 2), 22, [DOI]. URL (accessed 25 January 2011): http://eiop.or.at/eiop/texte/2009-022a.htm. (Cited on page 26.)
- Kubicek, Paul J. (Ed.), 2003a, The European Union and Democratization, Routledge, London; New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on pages 7, 8, 10, 17, 18, and 29.)
- Kubicek, Paul J., 2003b, "International norms, the European Union, and democratization: Tentative theory and evidence", in *The European Union and Democratization*, (Ed.) Kubicek, Paul J., pp. 1–29, Routledge, London. [Google Books]. (Cited on pages 10, 11, 12, 14, 15, and 16.)
- Kubicek, Paul J., 2005, "The European Union and Democratization 'From Below' in Turkey", 9th Biennial EUSA Conference, Austin, TX, 31 March-2 April 2005, conference paper. Online version (accessed 2 November 2006): http://aei.pitt.edu/3018/. (Cited on page 8.)
- Kühn, Zdeněk, 2005, "The Application of European Law in the New Member States: Several (Early) Predictions", *German Law Journal*, 6(3): 563–582. URL (accessed 01 November 2006): http://www.germanlawjournal.com/article.php?id=577. (Cited on page 26.)
- Kurtz, Marcus J. and Barnes, Andrew, 2002, "The Political Foundations of Post-communist Regimes: Marketization, Agrarian Legacies, or International Influences", *Comparative Politi*cal Studies, 35(5): 524–533, [DOI]. (Cited on page 10.)
- Kutter, Amelie and Trappmann, Vera, 2010, "Civil society in Central and Eastern Europe: The ambivalent legacy of accession", *Acta Politica*, 45(1-2): 41–69, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Ladrech, Robert, 2008, "Europeanization and the Variable Influence of the EU: National Parties and Party Systems in Western and Eastern Europe", Journal of Southern Europe and the Balkans, 10(2): 139–150, [DOI]. (Cited on page 21.)
- Ladrech, Robert, 2009, "Europeanization and political parties", Living Reviews in European Governance, 4(1), lreg-2009-1. URL (accessed 25 January 2011): http://www.livingreviews.org/lreg-2009-1. (Cited on page 20.)
- Ladrech, Robert, 2010, Europeanization and National Politics, Palgrave Macmillan, Basingtoke; New York. (Cited on pages 5 and 9.)
- Lavenex, Sandra, 1999, Safe Third Countries: Extending the EU Asylum and Immigration Policies to Central and Eastern Europe, Central European University Press, Budapest. [Google Books]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Lavenex, Sandra, 2001, "Migration and the EU's new eastern border: between realism and liberalism", Journal of European Public Policy, 8(1): 24–42, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Lavenex, Sandra and Schimmelfennig, Frank, 2009, "EU Rules Beyond EU Borders: Theorizing External Governance in European Politics", *Journal of European Public Policy*, 16(6): 791–812, [DOI]. (Cited on page 31.)
- Lavenex, Sandra and Uçarer, Emek, 2004, "The External Dimension of Europeanization: The Case of Immigration Policies", *Cooperation and Conflict*, 39(4): 417–443, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)

- Leiber, Simone, 2005, "Implementation of EU Social Policy in Poland: Is there a Different 'Eastern World of Compliance'?", 9th Biennial EUSA Conference, Austin, TX, 31 March-2 April 2005, conference paper. Online version (accessed 2 November 2006): http://aei.pitt.edu/3173/. (Cited on page 22.)
- Leiber, Simone, 2007, "Transposition of EU social policy in Poland: Are there different 'worlds of compliance' in East and West?", *Journal of European Social Policy*, 17(4): 349–360, [DOI]. (Cited on page 26.)
- Lendvai, Noémi, 2004, "The weakest link? EU accession and enlargement: dialoguing EU and postcommunist social policy", *Journal of European Social Policy*, 14(3): 319–333, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Lendvai, Noémi, 2008, "EU Integration and the Transformation of Post-Communist Welfare: Traversing a 'Quantum Leap'?"', *Social Policy & Administration*, 42(5): 504–523, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Levitsky, Steven and Way, Lucan A., 2006, "Linkage versus Leverage: Rethinking the International Dimension of Regime Change", *Comparative Politics*, 38(4), [DOI]. (Cited on pages 14 and 17.)
- Levitz, Philip and Pop-Eleches, Grigore, 2010a, "Monitoring, Money and Migrants: Countering Post-Accession Backsliding in Bulgaria and Romania", *Europe-Asia Studies*, 62(3): 461–479, [DOI]. (Cited on page 28.)
- Levitz, Philip and Pop-Eleches, Grigore, 2010b, "Why No Backsliding? The European Union's Impact on Democracy and Governance before and after Accession", *Comparative Political Studies*, 43(4): 457–485, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 14 and 28.)
- Lewis, Paul G., 2003, "The Impact of the Enlargement of the European Union on Central European Party Systems", *SEI Working Papers*, 2003(71): 1–19. URL (accessed 1 November 2006): http://www.sussex.ac.uk/sei/documents/wp71.pdf. (Cited on page 20.)
- Lewis, Paul G., 2005, "Consolidation or Collapse? Impacts of EU Involvement on Party Systems in Central Europe", 9th Biennial EUSA Conference, Austin, TX, 31 March-2 April 2005, conference paper. Online version (accessed 2 November 2006): http://aei.pitt.edu/3028/. (Cited on page 20.)
- Lewis, Paul G., 2008, "Changes in the Party Politics of the New EU Member States in Central Europe: Patterns of Europeanization and Democratization", *Journal of Southern Europe and the Balkans*, 10(2): 151–165, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Lightfoot, Simon, 2010, "The Europeanisation of International Development Policies: The Case of Central and Eastern European States", *Europe-Asia Studies*, 62(2): 329–350, [DOI]. (Cited on page 23.)
- Linden, Ronald H. (Ed.), 2002, Norms and Nannies: The Impact of International Organization on the Central and East European States, Rowman & Littlefield, Lanham, MD. (Cited on page 29.)
- Lindstrom, Nicole and Piroska, Dóra, 2004, "The Politics of Europeanization in Europe's Southeastern Periphery: Slovenian Banks and Breweries on S(c)ale", *Queen's Papers on Europeanisation*, (4). URL (accessed 1 November 2006): http://www.qub.ac.uk/schools/SchoolofPoliticsInternationalStudiesandPhilosophy/ FileStore/EuropeanisationFiles/Filetoupload, 38402, en.pdf. (Cited on page 23.)

- Lippert, Barbara and Umbach, Gaby, 2005, The Pressure of Europeanisation: From Post-Communist State Administration to Normal Players in the EU System, Nomos, Baden-Baden. (Cited on page 22.)
- Lippert, Barbara, Umbach, Gaby and Wessels, Wolfgang, 2001, "Europeanization of CEE executives: EU membership negotiations as a shaping power", *Journal of European Public Policy*, 8 (6): 980–1012, [DOI]. (Cited on page 19.)
- Magen, Amichai and Morlino, Leonardo (Eds.), 2009, International Actors, Democratization and the Rule of Law: Anchoring democracy?, Routledge, New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on pages 11 and 17.)
- Mair, Peter, 2000, "The limited impact of Europe on national party systems", West European Politics, 23(4): 27–51, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 20 and 21.)
- Mair, Peter, 2004, "The Europeanization dimension (Review section)", Journal of European Public Policy, 11(2): 337–348, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 5 and 9.)
- Maniokas, Klaudijus, 2009, "Conditionality and compliance in Lithuania: the case of the best performer", *European Integration online Papers*, 13(Special Issue 2), 20. URL (accessed 25 January 2011):

http://eiop.or.at/eiop/texte/2009-020a.htm. (Cited on page 26.)

- March, James G. and Olsen, Johan P., 1989, Rediscovering Institutions: The Organizational Basis of Politics, Free Press, New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on page 11.)
- Marek, Dan and Baun, Michael, 2002, "The EU as a Regional Actor: The Case of the Czech Republic", *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 40(5): 895–919, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Mastenbroek, Ellen, 2005, "EU compliance: Still a 'black hole'?", Journal of European Public Policy, 12(6): 1103–1120, [DOI]. (Cited on page 25.)
- Mattli, Walter and Plümper, Thomas, 2004, "The Internal Value of External Options: How the EU Shapes the Scope of Regulatory Reforms in Transition Countries", *European Union Politics*, 5(3): 307–330, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Meyer-Sahling, Jan-Hinrik, 2004, "Civil service reform in post-communist Europe: The bumpy road to depoliticisation", West European Politics, 27(1): 71–103, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Meyer-Sahling, Jan-Hinrik, 2006, "The Institutionalization of Political Discretion in Post-Communist Civil Service Systems: The Case of Hungary", *Public Administration*, 84(3): 693– 716, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Meyer-Sahling, Jan-Hinrik, 2008, "The Changing Colours of the Post-Communist State: The Politicisation of the Senior Civil Service in Hungary", *European Journal of Political Research*, 47(1): 1–33, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Meyer-Sahling, Jan-Hinrik, 2009, "Varieties of Legacies: A Critical Review of Legacy Explanations of Public Administration Reform in East Central Europe", International Review of Administrative Sciences, 75(3): 509–528, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Michelsen, Johannes, 2008, "A Europeanization Deficit? The Impact of EU Organic Agriculture Regulations on New Member States", *Journal of European Public Policy*, 15(1): 117–134, [DOI]. (Cited on page 26.)

- Mikkel, Evald and Pridham, Geoffrey, 2004, "Clinching the 'return to Europe': The referendums on EU accession in Estonia and Latvia", *West European Politics*, 27(4): 716–748, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Mitchell, Jon P., 2002, "Corruption and Clientalism in a 'Systemless System': The Europeanization of Maltese Political Culture", *South European Society and Politics*, 7(1): 43–62. (Cited on page 8.)
- Moravcsik, Andrew and Vachudová, Milada A., 2003, "National Interests, State Power, and EU Enlargement", *East European Politics and Societies*, 17(1): 42–57, [DOI]. (Cited on page 14.)
- Müftüler Bac, Meltem, 2005, "Turkey's Political Reforms and the Impact of the European Union", South European Society and Politics, 10(1): 16–30, [DOI]. (Cited on page 8.)
- Neumayer, Laure, 2008, "Euroscepticism as a political label: The use of European Union issues in political competition in the new Member States", *European Journal of Political Research*, 47 (2): 135–160, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Noutcheva, Gergana, 2009, "Fake, partial and imposed compliance: the limits of the EU's normative power in the Western Balkans", *Journal of European Public Policy*, 16(7): 1065–1084, [DOI]. (Cited on page 31.)
- Noutcheva, Gergana and Bechev, Dimitar, 2008, "The Successful Laggards: Bulgaria and Romania's Accession to the EU", *East European Politics and Societies*, 22(1): 114–144, [DOI]. (Cited on page 18.)
- O'Dwyer, Conor, 2006, "Reforming Regional Governance in East Central Europe: Europeanization or Domestic Politics as Usual?", *East European Politics and Societies*, 20(2): 219–253, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)
- O'Dwyer, Conor, 2010, "From Conditionality to Persuasion? Europeanization and the Rights of Sexual Minorities in Postaccession Poland", *Journal of European Integration*, 32(3): 229–247, [DOI]. (Cited on page 26.)
- O'Dwyer, Conor and Schwartz, Katrina Z.S., 2010, "Minority rights after EU enlargement: A comparison of antigay politics in Poland and Latvia", *Comparative European Politics*, 8(2): 220–243, [DOI]. (Cited on page 26.)
- Öniş, Ziya, 2007, "Conservative Globalists Versus Defensive Nationalists: Political Parties and Paradoxes of Europeanization in Turkey", *Journal of Balkan and Near Eastern Studies*, 9(3): 247. (Cited on page 8.)
- Oniş, Ziya and Yilmaz, Şuhnaz, 2009, "Between Europeanization and Euro-Asianism: Foreign Policy Activism in Turkey During the AKP Era", *Turkish Studies*, 10(1): 7–24, [DOI]. (Cited on page 8.)
- Orenstein, Mitchell A., 2008, "Out-liberalizing the EU: pension privatization in Central and Eastern Europe", *Journal of European Public Policy*, 15(6): 899–917, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 23 and 29.)
- Orlović, Slaviša, 2008, "Parties and the party system of Serbia and European integrations", Journal of Southern Europe and the Balkans, 10(2): 205–222, [DOI]. (Cited on page 21.)
- Papadimitriou, Dimitris and Phinnemore, David, 2004, "Europeanization, conditionality and domestic change: The twinning exercise and administrative reform in Romania", Journal of Common Market Studies, 42(3): 619–639, [DOI]. (Cited on page 16.)

- Parau, Cristina E., 2009, "Impaling Dracula: How EU Accession Empowered Civil Society in Romania", West European Politics, 32(1): 119–141, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Parau, Cristina E., 2010, "East Side Story: How Transnational Coalitions Contested EU Conditionality", *Europe-Asia Studies*, 62(9): 1527–1554, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 12, 20, and 23.)
- Perez-Solorzano Borragan, Nieves, 2004, "EU Accession and Interest Politics in Central and Eastern Europe", *Perspectives on European Politics and Society*, 5(2): 243–272. (Cited on page 20.)
- Perez-Solorzano Borragan, Nieves, 2005, "The Europeanisation of Interest Representation in the New EU Member States from ECE", 3rd ECPR Conference, Budapest, 8–10 September 2005, conference paper. (Cited on page 20.)
- Petrova, Tsveta and Tarrow, Sidney, 2007, "Transactional and Participatory Activism in the Emerging European Polity: The Puzzle of East-Central Europe", *Comparative Political Studies*, 40(1): 74–94, [DOI]. (Cited on page 21.)
- Pevehouse, Jon C., 2002, "Democracy from the Outside-In? Regional Organizations and the Transition to Democracy", *International Organization*, 56(3): 515–549. (Cited on page 17.)
- Pevehouse, Jon C., 2005, Democracy from Above: Regional Organizations and Democratization, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge; New York. (Cited on page 17.)
- Piana, Daniela, 2009, "The Power Knocks at the Courts' Back Door: Two Waves of Postcommunist Judicial Reforms", *Comparative Political Studies*, 42(6): 816–840, [DOI]. (Cited on page 19.)
- Pop-Eleches, Grigore, 2007a, "Between Historical Legacies and the Promise of Western Integration: Democratic Conditionality after Communism", *East European Politics and Societies*, 21(1): 142–161. (Cited on pages 18, 19, and 25.)
- Pop-Eleches, Grigore, 2007b, "Historical Legacies and Post-Communist Regime Change", Journal of Politics, 69(4): 908–926. (Cited on pages 15 and 18.)
- Poplawska, Ewa, 2004, "Constitutional Change in Poland: Adjustment in anticipation legal and democratic dilemmas", in *Driven to Change: The European Union's Enlargement Viewed from* the East, (Ed.) Dimitrova, Antoaneta L., pp. 59–76, Manchester University Press, Manchester; New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on page 18.)
- Prange, Heiko, 2002, "New Mechanisms of Europeanisation in the Process of EU Enlargement: The Example of Pharmaceutical Regulation", *Queen's Papers on Europeanisation*, (8): 73–93. (Cited on page 22.)
- Prange, Heiko, 2004, "Enlarging the Internal Market: The Role of Decentralisation and Institutionalisation in the Case of Pharmaceuticals", *Journal of International Relations and Development*, 7(1): 73–93, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Pridham, Geoffrey, 1999, "Complying with the European Union's democratic conditionality: Transnational party linkages and regime change in Slovakia, 1993–1998", *Europe-Asia Studies*, 51(7): 1221–1244, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Pridham, Geoffrey, 2002, "The European Union's democratic conditionality and domestic politics in Slovakia: The Meciar and Dzurinda governments compared", *Europe-Asia Studies*, 54(2): 203–227, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 18 and 20.)

- Pridham, Geoffrey, 2005, Designing Democracy: EU Enlargement and Regime Change in Post-Communist Europe, Palgrave Macmillan, Basingstoke; New York. (Cited on pages 16, 18, 20, 22, and 29.)
- Pridham, Geoffrey, 2006, "New Member State Comparisons: Slovakia and Latvia", European Research Working Paper Series, 4, European Research Institute, University of Birmingham, Birmingham. URL (accessed 11 February 2011): http://www.eri.bham.ac.uk/documents/research/wp04-pridham.pdf. (Cited on page 6.)
- Pridham, Geoffrey, 2008a, "The EU's Political Conditionality and Post-Accession Tendencies: Comparisons from Slovakia and Latvia", *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 46(2): 365–387. (Cited on page 28.)
- Pridham, Geoffrey, 2008b, "Status Quo Bias or Institutionalisation for Reversibility? The EU's Political Conditionality, Post-Accession Tendencies and Democratic Consolidation in Slovakia", *Europe-Asia Studies*, 60(3): 423–454, [DOI]. (Cited on page 28.)
- Pridham, Geoffrey, 2009, "Securing the Only Game in Town: The EU's Political Conditionality and Democratic Consolidation in Post-Soviet Latvia", *Europe-Asia Studies*, 61(1): 51–84. (Cited on page 28.)
- Pridham, Geoffrey and Ágh, Attila (Eds.), 2001, Prospects for Democratic Consolidation in East Central Europe, Manchester University Press; Palgrave, Manchester; New York. (Cited on page 17.)
- Pridham, Geoffrey, Herring, Eric and Sanford, George (Eds.), 1994, Building Democracy? The International Dimension of Democratisation in Eastern Europe, Leister University Press; St. Martin's Press, London; New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on page 17.)
- Radaelli, Claudio M., 2003, "The Europeanization of Public Policy", in *The Politics of Europeanization*, (Eds.) Featherstone, Kevin, Radaelli, Claudio M., pp. 27–56, Oxford University Press, Oxford; New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on pages 5 and 9.)
- Raik, Kristi, 2002, "Bureaucratization or Strengthening of the Political? Estonian Institutions and Integration into the European Union", *Cooperation and Conflict*, 37(2): 137–156, [DOI]. (Cited on page 21.)
- Rechel, Bernd, 2008, "What Has Limited the EU's Impact on Minority Rights in Accession Countries?", East European Politics and Societies, 22(1): 171–191, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 18 and 19.)
- Reinholde, Iveta, 2004, "Challenges for the Latvian public administration in the European integration process", in *Driven to Change: The European Union's Enlargement Viewed from the East*, (Ed.) Dimitrova, Antoaneta L., pp. 163–178, Manchester University Press, Manchester; New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Rybář, Marek and Malová, Darina, 2004, "Exerting influence on a contentious polity: The European Union's democratic conditionality and political change in Slovakia", in *Driven to Change: The European Union's Enlargement Viewed from the East*, (Ed.) Dimitrova, Antoaneta L., pp. 38–58, Manchester University Press, Manchester; New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on pages 18 and 20.)
- Sadurski, Wojciech, 2004, "Accession's Democracy Dividend: The Impact of the EU Enlargement upon Democracy in the New Member States of Central and Eastern Europe", *European Law Journal*, 10(4): 371–401, [DOI]. (Cited on page 18.)

- Sadurski, Wojciech, 2006, "Introduction: The Law and Institutions of New Member States in Year One", in Après Enlargement: Legal and Political Responses in Central and Eastern Europe, (Eds.) Sadurski, Wojciech, Ziller, Jacques, Zurek, Karolina, pp. 3–18, European University Institute, Florence. (Cited on pages 18 and 21.)
- Sajo, Andras, 2004, "Accession's Impact on Constitutionalism in the New Members", in Law and Governance in an Enlarged European Union, (Eds.) Berman, George, Pistor, Katharina, pp. 415–435, Hart Publishing, Oxford; Portland, OR. (Cited on page 18.)
- Sasse, Gwendolyn, 2005, "EU Conditionality and Minority Rights: Translating the Copenhagen Criterion into Policy", *EUI Working Papers RSCAS*, (2005/16): 1–21. URL (accessed 1 November 2006): http://www.eui.eu/RSCAS/WP-Texts/05_16.pdf. (Cited on pages 18 and 19.)
- Sasse, Gwendolyn, 2008, "The Politics of EU Conditionality: The Norm of Minority Protection During and Beyond EU Accession", *Journal of European Public Policy*, 15(6): 842–860, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 19 and 28.)
- Scherpereel, John A., 2006, "Review Essay: International Organizations and Institutional Change in Central and Eastern Europe", *Governance*, 19(1): 135–143, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 25 and 30.)
- Schimmelfennig, Frank, 2005, "Strategic calculation and international socialization: Membership incentives, party constellations, and sustained compliance in Central and Eastern Europe", International Organization, 59(4): 827–860, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 10, 14, 18, and 30.)
- Schimmelfennig, Frank, 2007, "European Regional Organizations, Political Conditionality, and Democratic Transformation in Eastern Europe", *East European Politics and Societies*, 21(1): 126–141. (Cited on page 14.)
- Schimmelfennig, Frank, 2008, "EU Political Accession Conditionality after Enlargement: Consistency and Effectiveness", Journal of European Public Policy, 15(6), [DOI]. (Cited on page 31.)
- Schimmelfennig, Frank, 2009, "Europeanization beyond Europe", Living Reviews in European Governance, 4(3), heg-2009-3. URL (accessed 25 January 2011): http://www.livingreviews.org/lreg-2009-3. (Cited on page 31.)
- Schimmelfennig, Frank and Scholtz, H., 2008, "EU Democracy Promotion in the European Neighbourhood: Political Conditionality, Economic Development and Transnational Exchange", European Union Politics, 9(2): 187–215, [DOI]. (Cited on page 14.)
- Schimmelfennig, Frank and Sedelmeier, Ulrich, 2004, "Governance by Conditionality: EU Rule Transfer to the Candidate Countries of Central and Eastern Europe", *Journal of European Public Policy*, 11(4): 661–679, [DOI]. (Cited on page 25.)
- Schimmelfennig, Frank and Sedelmeier, Ulrich, 2005a, "Conclusions: The Impact of the EU on the Accession Countries", in *The Europeanization of Central and Eastern Europe*, (Eds.) Schimmelfennig, Frank, Sedelmeier, Ulrich, pp. 210–228, Cornell University Press, Ithaca, NY. [Google Books]. (Cited on pages 17, 18, 22, and 25.)
- Schimmelfennig, Frank and Sedelmeier, Ulrich (Eds.), 2005b, The Europeanization of Central and Eastern Europe, Cornell Studies in Political Economy, Cornell University Press, Ithaca; New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on pages 6, 7, 9, 10, 11, and 29.)

- Schimmelfennig, Frank and Sedelmeier, Ulrich, 2005c, "Introduction: Conceptualizing the Europeanization of Central and Eastern Europe", in *The Europeanization of Central and Eastern Europe*, (Eds.) Schimmelfennig, Frank, Sedelmeier, Ulrich, pp. 1–28, Cornell University Press, Ithaca; New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on pages 9, 11, 12, 14, 15, 16, 17, 29, and 30.)
- Schimmelfennig, Frank and Sedelmeier, Ulrich, 2006, "Candidate Countries and Conditionality", in *Europeanization: New Research Agendas*, (Eds.) Graziano, Paolo, Vink, Maarten P., Palgrave Macmillan, Basingstoke; New York. (Cited on pages 17 and 22.)
- Schimmelfennig, Frank, Engert, Stefan and Knobel, Heiko, 2003, "Costs, commitment and compliance: The impact of EU democratic conditionality on Latvia, Slovakia and Turkey", *Journal* of Common Market Studies, 41(3): 495–518. (Cited on pages 8, 10, and 18.)
- Schimmelfennig, Frank, Engert, Stefan and Knobel, Heiko, 2006, International Socialization in Europe: European Organizations, Political Conditionality, and Democratic Change, Palgrave Studies in European Union Politics, Palgrave Macmillan, Basingstoke; New York. (Cited on pages 7, 8, 11, 14, 18, and 29.)
- Schwellnus, Guido, 2005, "The Adoption of Nondiscrimination and Minority Protection Rules in Romania, Hungary, and Poland", in *The Europeanization of Central and Eastern Europe*, (Eds.) Schimmelfennig, Frank, Sedelmeier, Ulrich, pp. 51–70, Cornell University Press, Ithaca, NY. [Google Books]. (Cited on pages 16, 18, and 19.)
- Schwellnus, Guido, 2006, "Double Standards? Minority Protection as a Condition for Membership", in *Questioning EU Enlargement: The EU in search of identity*, (Ed.) Sjursen, Helene, pp. 304–321, Routledge, Abingdon, OX; New York. (Cited on page 16.)
- Schwellnus, Guido, Balázs, Lilla and Mikalayeva, Liudmila, 2009, "It ain't over when it's over: the adoption and sustainability of minority protection rules in new EU member states", *European Integration online Papers*, 13(Special Issue 2), 24. URL (accessed 25 January 2011): http://eiop.or.at/eiop/texte/2009-024a.htm. (Cited on page 28.)
- Sedelmeier, Ulrich, 2007, "The European Neighbourhood Policy: A Comment on Theory and Policy", in *Governing Europe's Neighbourhood: Partners or Periphery?*, (Eds.) Weber, K., Smith, M.E., Baun, M., pp. 195–208, Manchester University Press, Manchester. (Cited on page 31.)
- Sedelmeier, Ulrich, 2008, "After Conditionality: Post-Accession Compliance with EU Law in East Central Europe", Journal of European Public Policy, 15(6): 806–825, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 15, 25, 26, and 27.)
- Sedelmeier, Ulrich, 2009, "Post-accession compliance with EU gender equality legislation in postcommunist new member states", *European Integration online Papers*, 13(Special Issue 2), 23. URL (accessed 25 January 2011): http://eiop.or.at/eiop/texte/2009-023a.htm. (Cited on pages 22, 26, 27, and 31.)
- Sepos, Angelos, 2005, "The Europeanisation of the Cyprus Central Government Administration: The Impact of EU Membership Negotiations", Journal of Southern Europe and the Balkans, 7 (3): 367–85, [DOI]. (Cited on page 8.)
- Sepos, Angelos, 2008, The Europeanization of Cyprus: Policy, Policies and Politics, Routledge, London. (Cited on page 8.)
- Sissenich, Beate, 2005, "The Transfer of EU Social Policy to Poland and Hungary", in *The Europeanization of Central and Eastern Europe*, (Eds.) Schimmelfennig, Frank, Sedelmeier, Ulrich,

pp. 156–177, Cornell University Press, Ithaca, NY. [Google Books]. Online version (accessed 7 November 2006):

http://mypage.iu.edu/~bsisseni/Europeanizationchapter.pdf. (Cited on pages 12, 22, and 23.)

- Sissenich, Beate, 2007, Building States without Society: European Union Enlargement and the Transfer of EU Social Policy to Poland and Hungary, Lexington Books, Lanham, MD. [Google Books]. (Cited on pages 15 and 22.)
- Sissenich, Beate, 2010, "Weak States, Weak Societies: Europe's East-West Gap", Acta Politica, 45(1-2): 11–40, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 15 and 20.)
- Smith, Edward W., 1999, Re-regulation and Integration: The Nordic States and the European Economic Area, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Sussex, Brighton. (Cited on page 6.)
- Smith, Karen E., 1998, "The use of political conditionality in the EU's relations with third countries: how effective?", *European Foreign Affairs Review*, 3(2): 253–274. (Cited on page 10.)
- Smith, Karen E., 2003, "The Evolution and Application of EU Membership Conditionality", in *The Enlargement of the European Union*, (Ed.) Cremona, Marise, pp. 105–139, Oxford University Press, Oxford; New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on page 10.)
- Smith, Karen E., 2005, "The Outsiders: The European Neighbourhood Policy", International Affairs, 81(4): 757–773, [DOI]. (Cited on page 31.)
- Spirova, Maria, 2008, "Europarties and Party Development in EU-Candidate States: The Case of Bulgaria", Europe-Asia Studies, 60(5): 791–808, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Spirova, Maria and Budd, Darlene, 2008, "The EU Accession Process and the Roma Minorities in New and Soon-to-Be Member States", *Comparative European Politics*, 6(1): 81–101, [DOI]. (Cited on page 19.)
- Spoerri, M. and Freyberg-Inan, A., 2008, "From Prosecution to Persecution: Perceptions of the International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia (Icty) in Serbian Domestic Politics", *Journal of International Relations and Development*, 11(4): 350–384, [DOI]. (Cited on page 19.)
- Stark, D., Vedres, B. and Bruszt, L., 2006, "Rooted Transnational Publics: Integrating Foreign Ties and Civic Activism", *Theory and Society*, 35(3): 323–349, [DOI]. (Cited on page 21.)
- Steffens, Michael J., 2003, "Lesson-drawing, policy transfer and the EU's Twinning exercise: The 1997 reform of the EU's enlargement strategy", *Revue d'études comparatives Est/Ouest*, 34(3): 37–63. (Cited on page 16.)
- Steunenberg, Bernard and Toshkov, Dimiter, 2009, "Comparing transposition in the 27 member states of the EU: the impact of discretion and legal fit", *Journal of European Public Policy*, 16 (7): 951–970, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 26 and 27.)
- Sturm, Roland and Dieringer, Jürgen, 2005, "The Europeanization of Regions in Eastern and Western Europe: Theoretical Perspectives", *Regional and Federal Studies*, 15(3): 275–294, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Subotić, Jelena, 2010, "Explaining Difficult States: The Problems of Europeanisation in Serbia", East European Politics and Societies, 24(4): 595–616, [DOI]. (Cited on page 31.)
- Szczerbiak, Aleks, 2004, "History trumps government unpopularity: The June 2003 Polish EU accession referendum", West European Politics, 27(4): 671–690, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)

- Szczerbiak, Aleks and Taggart, Paul, 2004a, "Conclusion: Towards a model of (European) referendums", West European Politics, 27(4): 749–777, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Szczerbiak, Aleks and Taggart, Paul, 2004b, "The politics of European referendum outcomes and turnout: Two models", West European Politics, 27(4): 557–583, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Szczerbiak, Aleks and Taggart, Paul (Eds.), 2005, EU Enlargement and Referendums, Routledge, London; New York. (Cited on page 20.)
- Taggart, Paul and Szczerbiak, Aleks, 2004, "Contemporary Euroscepticism in the party systems of the European Union candidate states of Central and Eastern Europe", *European Journal of Political Research*, 43(1): 1–27, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Tocci, Nathalie, 2005, "Europeanization in Turkey: Trigger or Anchor for Reform", South European Society and Politics, 10(1): 73–83, [DOI]. (Cited on page 8.)
- Tocci, Nathalie and Kovziridze, Tamara, 2004, "Cyprus", in Europeanisation and Conflict Resolution: Case Studies from the European Periphery, (Eds.) Coppieters, Bruno, Emerson, Michael, Huysseune, Michel, Kovziridze, Tamara, Tocci, Nathalie, Noutcheva, Gergana, Vahl, Marius, Centre for European Policy Studies, Brussels. (Cited on page 8.)
- Toshkov, Dimiter, 2008, "Embracing European Law: Compliance with EU Directives in Central and Eastern Europe", *European Union Politics*, 9(3): 379–402, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 15 and 22.)
- Toshkov, Dimiter, 2009, Between Politics and Administration: Compliance with EU Law in Central and Eastern Europe, Ph.D. Thesis, Leiden University, Leiden. (Cited on pages 15 and 22.)
- Trauner, Florian, 2009a, "From Membership Conditionality to Policy Conditionality: EU External Governance in South Eastern Europe", Journal of European Public Policy, 16(5): 774–790, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 22 and 31.)
- Trauner, Florian, 2009b, "Post-accession compliance with EU law in Bulgaria and Romania: a comparative perspective", European Integration online Papers, 13(Special Issue 2), 21, [DOI]. URL (accessed 25 January 2011): http://eiop.or.at/eiop/texte/2009-021a.htm. (Cited on page 26.)
- Treib, Oliver, 2006, "Implementing and complying with EU governance outputs", *Living Reviews* in European Governance, 3(5), lreg-2008-5. URL (accessed 25 January 2011): http://www.livingreviews.org/lreg-2008-5. (Cited on pages 15 and 25.)
- Tulmets, Elsa, 2005, La conditionnalité dans la politique d'élargissement de l'Union européenne à l'Est: un cadre d'apprentissages et de socialisation mutuelle?, Ph.D. Thesis, Institut d'Etudes Politiques, Paris. (Cited on page 16.)
- Vachudová, Milada Anna, 2005, Europe Undivided: Democracy, Leverage and Integration After Communism, Oxford University Press, Oxford; New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on pages 9, 10, 12, 14, 18, 20, 29, and 30.)
- Vachudová, Milada Anna, 2008a, "Centre-Right Parties and Political Outcomes in East Central Europe", Party Politics, 14(4): 387–405, [DOI]. (Cited on page 20.)
- Vachudová, Milada Anna, 2008b, "Tempered by the EU? Political Parties and Party Systems before and after Accession", *Journal of European Public Policy*, 15(6): 861–879, [DOI]. (Cited on pages 20 and 28.)

- Vachudová, Milada Anna, 2009, "Corruption and Compliance in the EU's Post-Communist Members and Candidates", Journal of Common Market Studies, 47(s1): 43–62. (Cited on page 28.)
- Vass, László, 2004, "Regional reform in Hungary: Does EU enlargement matter?", in Driven to Change: The European Union's Enlargement Viewed from the East, (Ed.) Dimitrova, Antoaneta L., pp. 131–144, Manchester University Press, Manchester; New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Vermeersch, Peter, 2003, "EU Enlargement and Minority Rights Policies in Central Europe: Explaining Shifts in the Czech Republic, Hungary and Poland", Journal on Ethnopolitics and Minority Issues in Europe, (1): 1–32. URL (accessed 11 February 2011): http://www.ecmi.de/publications/detail/issue-12003-62/. (Cited on pages 18 and 19.)
- Vermeersch, Peter, 2007, "A Minority at the Border: EU Enlargement and the Ukrainian Minority in Poland", *East European Politics and Societies*, 21(3): 475–502, [DOI]. (Cited on page 19.)
- Vujović, Zlatko and Komar, Oliver, 2008, "Impact of the Europeanization process on the transformation of the party system of Montenegro", Journal of Southern Europe and the Balkans, 10 (2): 223–241, [DOI]. (Cited on page 17.)
- Way, Lucan A. and Levitsky, Steven, 2007, "Linkage, Leverage, and the Post-Communist Divide", East European Politics and Societies, 21(1): 48–66, [DOI]. (Cited on page 14.)
- Whitehead, Laurence (Ed.), 2001, The International Dimensions of Democratization: Europe and the Americas, Oxford Studies in Democratization, Oxford University Press, Oxford; New York, rev. edn. (Cited on page 17.)
- Woolfson, Charles, 2006, "Working Environment and 'Soft Law' in the Post-Communist New Member States", *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 44(1): 195–215, [DOI]. (Cited on page 22.)
- Zielonka, Jan and Mair, Peter, 2002, "Introduction: Diversity and Adaptation in the Enlarged European Union", West European Politics, 25(2): 1–18, [DOI]. (Cited on page 24.)
- Zielonka, Jan and Pravda, Alex (Eds.), 2001, Democratic Consolidation in Eastern Europe, Vol. 2: International and Transnational Factors, Oxford University Press, Oxford; New York. [Google Books]. (Cited on page 17.)
- Zubek, Radoslaw, 2001, "A core in check: the transformation of the Polish core executives", *Journal of European Public Policy*, 8(6): 911–932, [DOI]. (Cited on page 19.)
- Zubek, Radoslaw, 2005, "Complying with transposition commitments in Poland: Collective dilemmas, core executive and legislative outcomes", *West European Politics*, 28(3): 592–619, [DOI]. (Cited on page 19.)
- Zubek, Radoslaw, 2008, Core Executive and Europeanization in Central Europe, Palgrave, Basingstoke. (Cited on page 19.)
- Zubek, Radoslaw and Goetz, Klaus H., 2010, "Performing to Type? How State Institutions Matter in East Central Europe", *Journal of Public Policy*, 30(1): 1–22, [DOI]. (Cited on page 19.)